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MR GOLDEGTHY On behalf of the
Honer please, the defendant desires to
ment in this case until & P. Mey in order $9
defense. His counsel, Mesars 0'Hare & !
sourt, Your Honor has assigned me, and |
mich time &t Aoquaint myself with the .
THR COURT: This is the. tnird bime i¢

te have it put dewn for to-day, saying th
here te try it, or otherwise, ether sow
Ploveds 1 do not see the necessity or preprie
journing it any furthers The defendant wid

triasl, 1 will msee to that.

MR aommmi Of course, 1 know
Yendant has ne witnesses in courts Fe
advantage,

THE COURT: Well, if it turns eut
sent witnesses when the People's case is
adjourm the cass to enable you to get th
here.

MR NOTT: Yes, sir. And, when it @
of the defense Af it appears that sy
whe should be here 1 shall Join in the N



| all witnesses be exoluded, in this

A




ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNRY CHARLES Gy 3
- . e aran gy

If the Gourt please:

Mr. Poreman and Gentlemen of the Ju ;

firaet degree, that is to say, an mﬂt dﬁ‘
to take life,
mmcrwmnchn‘mm
dom of which, I think, umuuhmit
question, that, where a man has been m e
victed of a felony, and, after that, commits &
felony, he may be indicted, as it 1s scalled, Q
second offense, as a second offender; and, “ ..
People have proved his prior sonviction m
and then, in addition, proved the orime against
with which he is charged on the present m.
that fact is taken inte ascount, if convietien
the second time, in the matter of sentente,
Now, this defendant has besn indicted by the ”
Grand Jury as for a second effense; and the m

aoakiind



tm&wmvtﬂdhulmafﬂn“ﬂﬂ!
tempted grand larceny in the second degree, and m
od a tern, ummmu—ummm
Afier having proved that, we will proseed te the
proof of the mwummmw
upon which he is on trial before yous

This defendant is one of the pmaumltt
certain place, umummutnuum It
is a saloon, nearly mﬂohnlﬁnﬂ. nh ,
easterly side of the Bowerys :

I wish you, gentlemen, eould, a8 1 have dene,
80 over and look at this place, and mztw
lyj and by & few glanees about it I am sure you could
lenrn more sbout the charaster »f the place than from
any amount of testimeny. |

It i8 & leng, narrow saleon, and at this Sine,
in contravention of law, there was & sort of private
hallway built inte it, a partitien Anside of the s
leoon, which gave a sort of private entrance te the
saloon} that is te say, the saloen had & main deer,
going inte the saloon properj and then, right inside of
the main deor, there was another door, whish led inte
this narrew mim, whigh had been taken out of the




space of the saloon,
8o that, & persen going in the side deer ¥
not go into the saleon directly, Bt inte W
hallway; and, by going down that private h ~,
through a rear deor, he would get into & m
opening inte the saloen. On the uptown m *
building, there was a door leading m m‘m :
way of the Wilding,.
Overhead, were hedrooms, rented %6 an e
temporary olass of ogoupants.
' GOTDEMITH: I ohjeet te that Mm t
exeeption te it, if yvour Honer please. ‘ | ,
MR NOTT: 1 am deseribing the general charaster

of the place in which the erime m cormitted, and

the plage run by the defendant,

THE GOURT: 1 think I wild allow thats

MR GOIPSMITH: And your Honer will give e the
benefit of an exeeption te that?

THR comi Yes.

MR NOTT:

1 should have said that, when yeu get te the
end of the hallway, you enter the saleoon through that
doorj and, when you get teo the rear of the saloen,
there is another sort of intermediate reoom, and, baok
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middle there.

And then there is the rear rosm, m
are tables, and & kitehen fenced off, l“ i
not least, & pilane, which u devoted te m .
of the patronsef this rolorh

That is t0 say, we have the saloenin
the little hallway by its side;, and this
room, and then the steps leading wp %0 & rmh
rear, where there are tables and the )M |

This defendant was the proprietor, or one ﬂ
propriaetors, of that place, sinee last M "

One of the habitués of that place was & men by
the name ef O'Brien, Willimm 0'Brienj and this men
0'Brien is A man who has been convieted times without
llunbor; e was one of the frequenters theres

In the menth of May an odcyrrence took place
there whigh the People claim is very mateorial te
this matter in hand, en the question of luuvo“’

In the early hours of the morning, of & Sunday
morning, in May, on the Sth of May, 1 think, last,



there was a orowd in this place, and mm ' “ P
bers of the crowd was & police officer; by he * L‘{.J’-jf'" !

of Mallon. s
MR GOTDSMITH: One mements 1 rust interpose

1 object to it on the ground alse that the A
Attornevy is trving te inflame the minds Oi ﬂ‘ Jury

against the defendant with what has Mh&u t. do
the matter here gharged in the WM Ve “
dealing enly with matters in evidencs, and he h M

ferring to matters not material here.

MR NOTT: The Peeple intend e prove, if your

Honor please, that the witness, 0'Brien, was & w“ﬂ
nese in December, as to & lhooting that took place
in that place, in May, and that he testified that
certain unlawful aets ococurringin this planfﬂ that
the trial at which he testified teok place in Degems
ber, and thut the defendant shot this witneas, 0'Briem
within & few weeks afters. We olaim that that is pers
feetly naterial on the question of motive,

TIR COURT: 1 will allew it, and allew you an

exgeption, o n the question of motive,




MR NOTTY Yes, sire

MR GOTPEOTH: I take nw

objeot te it at this stage, if your Honor

the ground that it is too remetes

THE COURT: You may have your

-y ol

On this Sundey morping, while M ‘

officer by the name of Mallen, who wai “’

that time, was drinking and earcusing, nm_; ¥
23 Bowery, he got inte & dlspute uﬂum'

named Brennan, and, after a fight that

that place, these parties got out $e the sk

and this officer shot and killed Shis young
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0'Brien was a witness of that ceour
officer, Mallen, was net tried wntid u s
Degember, 1904.
one of the important ﬂmm'“ |
of the State of New York to m“‘, m
i e sy e iy
that had been done in the place of thiw de £ ||
were testified to.

That officer, officer Majlon, was oonvi l,,‘ '

. GOLDEMITHI Just a moment, Your Homer

gives me an exception %0 the entire statement ‘ *
District Attorney, on this subjeet m‘ﬂ"

THE COURT: Yes, I give you an exesption to
nis entire statement, te everything that he has

said,

MR, CGOLDSMITH: Yes, sir,

MR, NOTT: Om the 29th of Decsuber,. 1904 about
a menth after this convietion of Mallon, this man
0'Brien again went inte the place kept by this defend
ant,

He was in there early in the evening, abdout
10130, I think it was, and a fight teek pince there
then, or a disturbance, and he then left,
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He oame in later in the evening, and what }
mmmnmumwnﬁa
witnesses of the ooccurrence,

The time at mcnumumm
three and four o'elock hmnnm.,ﬂmﬁﬂ{ |
had ne right to he epen,

There was a doorkeeper employed there to M
people in, %0 look them ever and let th- inj ﬁ
people that went in found the place running um
plane geing, played by a celered man, ‘O“*

room, uhv of them in a state of M“
a number of the male frequenters of the place,

The People's witnesses will be two hoys, one
emplayed hy the Postal Telegraph Company; antd 5
friend of his, whe were evidently m.m the
age of eighteen, and yet they were served in this
place, the defendant being there, with drinks, which
was also in contravention of law.

They want in there, and went inte this bask
reom, and sat down at a table against the northerly -
wall there, They went in there te ses what such a
place as that was like, and, before the night was

ever, they saw.
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Anether um named Denevan, was &m
saloon sariier in the svening, umwm
later, and he saw these seeurrences. |

There is very little dlspute ﬂh”m
fasts wore that these witnesses saw,

A woman, named Sadie Ennis, was ait
in the evening, and the defendant m yared
there,

The defendant Suith and 0'Brien ma !h
top of this Tiight of steps, whish ded Mqﬁé :
roem down unm«-mdhmﬂﬂﬁﬂ
0'Brien were heard talking, and their talk " loud,
and their talk grew angry, and 0'Briem was heard %o
apply vislent langnage to Smith, wes henrd t9 oad)
him & son of a biteh; and then he salled him &
stoel pigeen for the pelise. .

Smith shouted out seme retorts, and 0'Bries
turned te leave the premises. 1

0'Brien went down these two steps, allulhl‘
soross diagenally te the deer that went inte this
little private hallway.

As he 4id so, Smith drew a revelver, and shouts

od after him, uumuusouauuuh.dﬁfw
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"I'A1 go te the chalr for you,* and uﬂqm
turned around te open the deor, and g¢ m ;.
fired st him, being then st & distanes of -ﬂh
or twelve feet from him, o b
The bullet struok mmmwwm 3
and made a very sericus wound in the shbdéminal :
region, : - 
0'Brien hurriedly closed the deor, ﬂ ll‘ i |
outside, leaving his hat thers, |
Some man in the plase teok his hat out $o him,
and he was ‘then helped soross th..agnqufgpj’}gp.g,i
store, where numerous pelice ﬂﬂ‘&l “.“ a
peared,
The two boys fellewed him, and I think the
asn Donovan 414, and saw him g0 over %o fﬁﬁl drug

store,

And they saw Smith leave the piase, with his
revolver.

And they saw another man there, a waiter, named
Kelly, whip out his revelver, at thes same tine
that Smith did.

And then the place was cleared, and they erdere
ed the persons inside out, twe by twe, being led out
in that way by the barkeeper, and the placse was




closed, and, when the pelice arrived, Smith had de-
M“o . v ’
Now, that is the testimeny that will be detailed .

to you by these three witnesses.
They are perfectly disinterested umn.
and whe, in spite of the faot that they were h ﬂ "
a place, at this time, I think you will M‘ﬁ
faver, when you see that they are far sbove the

1T
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usual character of the people whe go there,
They are disinterested witnesses; and it is for
you to say whether they are telling the ll&p L5
As so frequently happens in cases of this
sort, where crime ia committed in such a plass, the

People will not be able to have the benefit that
they eught te have of all the testincny of those
who really saw the orimuv committed, but you san ap~
preciate whether the peeple there would $ell what
they really saw,

And I shall call, and put on the stand hefere
you, this witness O0'Brien,

I have told you before very frankly that he
is an ex-cenviet, and may be called a professional
oriminal; and 0'Brien, as you will see, will re-

fuse te remember what ocourred there, As he says,
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he has been up sgainst 1% omoe befors, and €ees et
want to be up against it again, and that omoe is
enough for him,

But it is for you to say whether that is net
an intentional lapse of memory, and whether the
three People's witnesses, who were m-wlm :
are not telling the truth, . _

And 1t will be, then, for you %o deternine |
whather the defendant, with intent to take O'Brien's

1ife, did net fire this revelver at him, lll strike
him with the bullet in & vital part, intending to
X111 him,

O0'Brien's life was given up, for some time,
and he was in the hespital for a long time, and
has been laid up by this injury ever sinee.

And it is for you to say whether the prier
ocourrence in that place, that I have detailed te
you, had anything te de with the shootingi

And it is for you to say whether this man, whe
has been allowed by the police te run this place,
without melestation, even after the faots in the
Mallon case became publie, and when charged vtth
being a stool pigeon for the police; it 4s feor yeu
to say whether he had any metive, or vhether that ‘Whas
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the particular motive, for sheoting the man whose

testimeny was extremely important in cenvieting a 8
police offieer, and in revealing the mtﬂ .4
O his own place, | | ; s
If you believe that the People's witnesses qq
telling the truth, as we say they are, and that ! _
man did shoot O'Brien, even though 0'Brien is ‘ “
character that I have told you, it is for you to ﬂ ‘ %
whether this defendant has not committed iu orime 7 H
of assault in the first degree., But, if you de l“i
so believe on the testimeny, then, I am sure, ’“ 7 }
will premptly sequit the defendant. Lo ~
THE COURT: I think, Mr, Distriet Attermey, on
your opening, that the case ocan be very much simplis
fied, by cenfining yourself, first, te the cconsien
of the shootihg. It may net be necessary %o travel
all over this ground, I think I would confine my=
self, now, to the ocourrences at the time of the
shooting, and the second offense. On oress ax~
- anination, it may become necessary to prove a

motive.,

But I think we can simplify i%, and possibly
out out a great deal of matter which you have out-
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branch of it, Make 1t as simple as you m. “3;»
thikk it will be then mur for the Jw“*w o
termine 1, Did he sheot him, and under m
cwistances 41d he shoot Rin? That is the guess

tion st lasue hers, leaving out vers dargely svems
thing that does net bear direstly em that miestions
If they want te discover any metive on m_ﬂ* &
amination that may or might exist, M ok “ _m;.f




for him to obtain a fair and Lmp:
THE COURT: Wej I will met ds
MR NOTTI You say thet this jury

this man & fair trial?

| mom'm M“."M

the Courts You may oppese it, if you ¥

simplify the oasej that was alls
MR GOTDEMITHE ' Your Hemor denied my

THR COURT: Yems _
MR GOLDSMITHt 1 take an exceptisns |




THRE PROPIR'S TRETINONY.

JOENN P. BROPHY, = witness salled on behalf if
Poople, being duly srerm, testified as fallewss
DIRBOT RXAMINATION BY MR WOTTY GEgh
Q@ What is your name, pleass, sirt A John Pa mc j
Q What is your ocoupation? A Deputy Glerk, Oout
eral Sessions of the Peace of the City and County ﬂ ” |

and Clerk of Part I11 of said Oourts G

Q Have you, &% my request, produced from the m‘“
Clerk of the Court of General Sessions of the County of M
York the mimite book, vovering the datesef Decewber mn
20th and 24th, 1901, of Part IV ? A I haves 1 have he

offigcinl recerd of the Court of General Sessions ‘ “
Part 1V, froem the Gth of May, 1903 te the 23th of M‘
Q@ And that is produced frem the offies of the Clerk?
A TFrom the office of the Clerk of the Court of Genersl Sess
of the Peace,
Q@ And as Clerk of that Part you identify the recerd?
A Yes, sir. ', / 3
R YNow, will you turn te the record of December 13,
A December 18th 13 the date you wish, 1 think, ‘

NG



Have you that record? _

A 1 have, sir. Ty
Q@ Is there anything in that record as 49 ene ¥

Smithk? A There is, sir. , | _

MR NOTT; Well, new, I offer that, %o 'h

identification, A

(1t 1s marked Pecple': Bxhibit 1 Ber lde

THR COURT: Tet him read the record, Mr

torney. :

MR GOLDRATH; Nes I ebjest te i¥e nn “

in evidenoe. A

THR COURTE 1t 1s part of the record cmm

and the Court will take cognizance of its owm m “

I will let him read it, and I will give you a3

MR GOLDSMITH: Thank youw, siry 1 will ke ﬂu

tion, | ; .

THE "u'r:mesi *Wadnasday morning, December 18, m :

The People of the State of New York against Willism u
Smith, on trial for grand larceny in the seoend w
December 7, 1901, Seloniously te steal the sum of §30

in lawful money of the United States of Ameriosy geodsj

ete. of one Frank Y. Kﬂnu ¥iled, December 1R, m

Jumes J. Walsh, for the Peoples Hugh O Pentesest; for
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« 'y
*Jurers balloted and sworn: John Ge Fisshery Geerge
c.uouu.mmmmmw,
m.:ommmmmm |
Louis Werner, hﬂ.ﬂ“MM&"”W'
¥, Rising.*
Muumm: mummm
William 7. Burnses Defendant's evidences me 1
mmnn.unum.-uuux-l.nm@
*Officer wsworn, m:mmuwmﬂ
tmrmtnummnumﬁm
usmcmumxmummw |
BY MR NOTT:
Q YNew will you turn te thee=e
BY THR COURT
@ That was against one, William He Smith? A Yes, siryg
1 %0 read.
37 IR NOTTy

§ FNow turn teo the 30th of Decenber and see Af there is an
entry An the same case? A Yes, sir.
Q Please read 187 A *Tuesdsy merning, Desember 4,
190)=-"* . ' ;
MR GDEMTES Oms mememty The sams ehjebtieny |
moomm !n.ﬂnn-olﬂmluﬂhJ
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Ne is reading from the record of the sourt,

vill take judicial netios of its own reserdse

MR GOLDETHY 1 take an exseption te the ¢

i, A

A (Contanued) *The Pecple of the State of m

Villiam Ha Smith, on eonvictien by verdiet lt an Q ‘)

mit the orime of grand larceny in the second A_ ,

of one ¥rank L, Fewes. Filed December 13, um'

*The dafendant having nothing further te m m Jua

ment, in the penitentiary of the M of M , ,

term of oleven menths.® 3By his Honory Judge m m
ing.

MR WOTT: Now, 1 offer those tow entries in ¢

if your MHonor please.
MR nc-wsm'mi. 1 objects.
THR QOURTi Allowed,
MR GOILDSMITH: RExoceptions
(They wre marked People's Exhibits 1 and R
BY MR NOTT:

Q@ & show you & paper and ask you where that is produced
from? A Tois indictment is produced from the official records
of the Court of General Sessions ef the Peace of the City M‘
County of New Yerk.

MR GOTDSMITH: I objeect te that as & conslusieon of



the witnesss SR
excaption. ‘
M3 GOIDSMITH: Rxoeptiona
Y MR NOTTY |
@ Will you tell me whether or not that is the indie
referred teo in the entries frem the records that yeu m
A Yes, sire This indictment is the indistment M h h
the records as just resd. ’ gk
MR NOTT: 1t is offered in evidencs, umm o
please, = gl
MR oommui Objected to on the MM it li%‘
improperly preven,
THE COURT: Allewed.
MR GOIDGMITH) Rxoeptiena
(1t is marked People's Exhibit 3.)

MR NOTT: Whatever part, if your Homor please, that Mr
Geddmnith wishes to read, of course he oan reads 1 will
read the Tuce of the indietment te the jury:

(Mr Yottt reads to the Jury.)

MR GOT.DM'!M Ne questions. 1 move that the entire
testinmony given hy the witness be strisken ﬁt. Qq the
Jury instructed te disregard it. | |

THE OOURT: 1 deny the motion.




"

N— e e ames—————— PSSR s

i ‘

e
- i
» .

)namm; 1 take an exoeption,

VILLIAN J. BURNS, nvmnnnuuuhw |
of the Pesple, being duly. svern, towtified ne rom -

DIRRCT RXAMINATION BY MR NOTTS | o :
Q Are vou a member of the Munioipal Poliee ma ﬁ 3

City of New York? A Yes, sirs P
Qmm:whnahnnmbmu‘?lmmmm
Q@ And did you hold=-what mutmumbumm-

Yorce? A Roundsman, at the present ﬂw l
Q@ Vere you on the foree during the m dmi
1901 A Yes, sire

Q And prior therste? A Yes, sirs
Q What positien did you hold then? A Presinet

e =4

Q Vere you a witness in the oase of the Peeple sgainst

Villiam He Smith, which was tried in Part IV, Degember 18,
1901, in this court? :
MR aoma.um; Ohjected te u immaterial, irrelevant
and 1noonpotont;
THE COURT: Allowed,
MR GOT.DMTl; Exception,
BY THE COURTS
Q Vere you a witness in the case of William H. Smith, which
was tried in this court on the 18th of Decenber, 1901, before
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Rufus B, Cowing, City Judge? A 1 am not quite oertain, sir,
about the date. I was in that-easey yes, sime = |
BY \R NOTT
Q Vell, were rou the officer in the case? A 'hn, m
MR GOIDSMITH: 1 objeet te that, sir, until the wits
ness gets his entire answer on the records

THR COURT: I will allew it
MR GOIDSMITH: Exceptien,

BY MR NOTT:
Q@ In the case of the 'Powll against Willieam nt

A Yes, sir.
Q@ And were vou present at the trial? A Yes, sir.
Q And did you testify as & witness? A Yes, sire
Q And did you see the verdiot rendered? A Yes, ltrn
Q@ And will you state whether or net you saw the ' 7

in that case in court? A Yes, sir. ;
Q Point him out? A There is the man (indieating the m ?

fendant),

BY THE UOURT*
Q@ The prisener at the bar? A Yes, sirs

BY MR NOTT} { /
@ Did you see the verdiet rendered? A Yes, sire

BY THE COURTy
Q@ Did you hear the verdiet rendered? A Yes; sire
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MR GOLDSMITH: One moment. I ohjest te M

statement, the prisoner at the bars Under the m ﬁ |
is & defendant at the bars o
THR COURT: I will give you an execeptions
BY MR WOTT: "

Q And were you present in court when hs Was e .

A Yes, sir,

Q And de you remember whet the sentends was? A Hlew
months, | | ‘

Q In the Penitentiary? A Yes, sirs ‘ :

Q@ Yow, you say that you are not oertain, or ﬁﬁ e
tain, as to the date? Hmyuymm“w' :
A Yesn, sir.

Q@ Csn you refresh your memory hy lecking at that?® ,
A Yes, sir. - : ~

Q Will you kindly de seo?

MR GOH)&(ITK; One *ﬂo

Q Vhem did you make the memorandum? When did yo w make
that memorandum? A This was made & leng while Ages

Q@ Vhen? A 1 can't say when this was nades

Q@ This worning?

Q@ Vas it nade about the time of the trial? A Yes, m ?
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This is & copy made from a beok, made at the tims of the trials
MR GOLDOMITHi May 1 cross examine he witness?
THR COURT: Yes. | o
BY MR GOLDEMITH: |

Q@ Yess A About s month sgo.

Q@ About a month age? A Yes, sir.
MR GOTDEMITH: Now, I objest te ife s S
THR COURT: Why do you objeet? gy
MR GOTDDATH: On the groundess ' e

BY THE COURTj foe
Q Now, you ean look at that memorandum and then » i

dependently from that, when it took place, I will allow yeu to @
0. Can you do s0? A I oan do so. |
Q You oan do #0% A Yes, sir.
Q@ Then do se?
MR aommn'mi Ohjected to.
THR OOURﬂ Allowed,
MR aomwmi Rxception,
Q@ New, what was the date of that trial? A ‘ll. ﬁ‘*
LOWO I arid Wil == %

Q@ Ne. PFrem your memery, refreshed from the memoranduml
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A 1 haven't got the date of the trial,

BY THR COURT:
Q You haven't got the date of the trial? A ﬁo. sirs
BY MR IOT‘M
Q Have you got the date of the sentence? A Yen, M
Q@ Yhen was it? A December 24, 1901,
BY THE COURTS | _
Q@ And do you remenber that igdependent frop any memorandum?
A Yas, siry
5T woTT i
Q And were you a witness in the cmirt of General Mdﬂ
against any other William Ha Smith in that month? A Ney sire
Q And that Smith against whem you testified, and who was
sentenced on the 24th of Necsmber, 19ul, is “his umm
A Yes, sir. f
MR ,r;omsm'm; Yo que-txon-; And 1 ask your Honer te
strike out the entire evidence given by this witnesss :
THE COURT; Motien donied. :
MR GOLNSMITH: I will take an exceptions ; F*;l'
MR NOTT3 Hew, if your Honer please, 1 understand thd i
Nr Goldsmith has ne ohjection %9 the intreduction in ewis
denceof this plan, and 1 ask te have it marked in evidenoes

THE COURT3 'the plan of what? Where the alleged shoote



ing took place?
MR NOTT: Yes, sir
THR COURT: 1% may be corrected Af there awy

to be made in it, Wy either side, It may go in

by eonsent, R

(It is maried People's Rxhibit 4y)

JOSEPHE Mo GIFERN, awitness on behaif of the

People, being duly swern, testified as follewss '

mmﬁ xwauuxmm-mnmmw

least 1 will ask the Court to ask the jury in oase W

do not understand anvthing about that plan, te kindly ssk

the Court, and we will straighten it outy
DIRRCT RXAMINATION BY MR ?JOTT;

Q Now, Joseph, 1 want you te spesk up o0 that the last
two gentlemen here can hear vou., They hive get te hear you
just as much as the nm two? A Yes, sirs

Q How old are vou, Joseph? A Seventeen last Novembers

Q  BSeventeen last November? A Yes, sirs

Q Where de you live? A 3 West 102nd Street,

Q Do you live with your parents? A Yes, sir.

Q What do you do for A living? A Messenger boy,

Q Nessenger?! A Yes, sire

Q@ Who are you employed hy? A Postal Telegraphys
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graph? A A year and a half,
Q@ Are you working for them now? A Yes, dh_'

Q@ Do you know a bay named Kelly--Brady, 1 mean? A B

sir. . _ ‘;
Q Now, tell the jury whether or net you and m
the premises, 2 Bowsry on the night of Tanuary 58hy -"m
early merning of Janmuary 27th? g
MR nommm: That is objsoted So, on the m 1
that 1t is leading. , SR
MR NOTT3 I have got the date wrong. m

1 meant, | '
MR GOTDSMATH: 1f your Honor pleass, we ere in & .

2 1

N A 2 o e Sl i

court of justice, and we want witnessss £0 testify, now
Now, 1 ebject te this on the ground w\u it is "
it is stating to the witness the answer, yes or noe :

THR COURT: The question is, on the 29th of

was he in this place?

MR NOTTS Yen, sir.

THR COURT: What year?

MR NOTT§ 1904,

THR COURTY Allewed.

MR GOLDSMITH: Fxoeptions

A Yes, sir.
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BY MR m
.MI‘.”M”“"‘.M“”M‘“

sir, #
@ Now, what time did you and Brady get M ‘ |

teen minutes past three. ‘ e

Q In the afterncen or early morning? A In “ y

Q After midnight? A Yes, sir, e 5y 7
Q At wbout 3 A Me? A Yom, sire B
Q And what door did you go in Wy? A There “ ‘lﬂ *

loon, and then there is & door at the left “ ih! zaloor ,

Q New , on which side of the Nowery is the M m
side or west side? A Rast side.

Q@ And you say that as you go in there lli”ﬂ“' ‘
right hand side? A Yes, sir.

@ That is, on the domtown side? A Yes; sirs

Q And did you see anybody «t the deor when you went in?
A No, sir,

Q Well, this deer that you went inte, what did that let
you inte? A There is a hallway there, & leng m:..

Q@ And did you ge through the hallwsy¥ A; !0!. ﬂpo

@ Then where did you ge? A There is & door i tl'

of the hallway, inte & reom, & saall reom. There ‘l

tion there, on tep of three stePs.
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Q@ wow, when you got in there werw thers smy
there? A Yes, sir, ' “
i~ Q@ Muiy or fow? A Quite & Towj about twe de

THE COURTI Was this reem in the rear of

MR NOTT; A% the rear of the haliway, Defers

the steps there, #irs ’ |

BY MR NOTTY :

Q@ Now, where did you and Brady ge them® A Te
in the corner there {indieating). | e o

Q Was it & table before you got te the stepsy er
you went up the steps? A Aftar we went up the m g

Q@ And what was up at the top of the steps? A”. ﬂﬂ
room here, and there was a lot of tables mlm, “m

was & stove at the tep of the steps.

Q@ And was there anvthing else there? A AM"
in the cerners ‘

Q And were there any people in that reem? A That's where
the people all werds ‘ "

Q Well, about hew many were there, as near &s you oan put
1t? A About twe dozenj both men and wemen, ‘

Q@ And what were they deing? A mmm
And one man was playing the pianes ’ |

Q ¥as the man playing the piwne & white man or & selored
nan? A A vhite “
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Q@ And 454 you nee any one ¢l play the plane? A No,
sirs ’
BY THR COURT:
Q Was he & colored or a white man? A A white mame
MR COBDRMITH:  What was your Rener's iestient
THR OOURT: I asked hinm whether he was & white or eede
ored man, I didn*t hear mmummm
ney's questions | |
MR GOTDSMITH: Yes, sire And then Shere was me ot
mmmmmgmnna-;
Q@ Did you hear anybody sing? A Yes, sire
Q@ Whe?! A A colered man went up and sang & Sengs

Q@ Y¥ow, were the people in this resm all men or all wemen, \‘

or men and women? A lNen and womans
@ How many women were in there? A Absut ten or elevems
Q@ Now, down in front of the steps, Alengside of this
hall, what was there? A 1 den't understand yous
Q@ 3Before you came te the steps, what was in the frent
part of the wilding? A Oh, thers was an entranes 5o the s
leon,
R The baw? A Yes, sir, ;o
Q New look at People's Rxhibit 4. Doss that represent the
promises? JHere is the baw, or the fremt of it (indicating), |
and here is the hall, and the 1ittle mummm
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O TR v yes R R R TR === .

Doss that represent the premisss? A Yes, sire
Q Now, 1 want you to taks & pencil and mark, u ‘
you on.mnmubhmﬂutmndm-“ﬁw
= xrmuwMAmn'omxutdwm
Brady sa$ (indicating)
Q VWell, this cirele that you makes, with mﬁ*“
is the table and the chairs? A Yos, sire And Shere *ﬁ

beneh there (indicating)s s
Q You say there was & bench running aleng m- m
close against thw wall? A Yes, sirs :
Q YNow, is Brady older or younger tham you, m o kng
off A Not that 1 Jmow of, e

Q@ Mat? A 1 don't know his ages

Q@ Well, is he a young Tellow or an old man?
MR GOIDSMITH: Oh, I ohjest to it 1If you have

8ot 3rady, preoduce him before the jJury. o
BY MR NOTTI T

Q@ Vell, 1 ask you whether he is an old nan or & young
man? |
MR rmmam'mi ohjected to as incompetent,
THR OOURTI Allowed.
MR nommma Exception,
A About my own age.
BY THR COUM!
Q@ About your own age? A %es,, sirj about my own aghe
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Only & little largers £
' § About your own age emly a 1ittde levger? A Yem, sire
BY MR NOTT: '
@ Sow, after you and Brady sat dewn there, &% three
o'elock in the morning, what did you de? A We sat M ”
sbout five mimites, and then we ordered drinkes e

e T

%

What did you order? A Jeer.

Vere you served with 189 A Yes, sire

And did yeu drink 1%? A Yes, sins :
And what you were served with, was that beer? A Yesy

o 5 o L

sirs
R And did you pay Tor it? A Yes, sire
Q Now, did you see the defendant there? Did you see this

man there (indicating the defendant),
GOIDMOTRS 1 to the Distriet At
rotnslly TPIIT, 2 e S
Sy tam counry
Q DPid you msee thc defendant thorﬂ
raling?
THE QOURT: As %o what? As te his mw i will
allow the quuuoa. did he pee the nt-um theres
MR GOLDSMITH: One moment, l“glnqmwm >
/
cord straight. 1 ohjest to the Distriet Atteorney pelnting
to & persen at the counsel table and asking him whether he
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BY THR COURT}Y

remenvar seeing that man theres
BY HR NOTT:

cating). Did you see that man there? A Yes, sirs

was that mam, the defendant there.
THR mv von. I will allew the m e
did peint, and you may socept te that. e
MR GOIDSIITH: vhat is what I desire the m
tos G i
THR COURTS Yeon; 1 will allow the m ﬂ lh '
see the defendant theres g s
MR GOLDSIGTH) 1 will take an mﬂﬂ to Mm
ruling. e : s ,
the Distriet Attorney's peinting %e the m-—&
MR am.mnms Yes, #8irs
TNR COURT: And I will give you am exéeptien te thats

Q Did you see the defendant there? A Ne, sirj I can't

Q You didn't identify the man then? A Ne, sir, I didn't.
Q@ Neow, look at the man standing there at the table (indie

Q@ What tice was 1t°?
A That was about & quarter past three As M

MR NOTT: Will you aduit om the recerd that the persen oalled



wp answers to the name of William 0'Brien?
MR GOLDSMITH: Yes.
THE COURTt The complainant referred to in the indiot-

ment? -
MR NOTT: Yes, sir,

BY MR NOTT
Q Now, will you tell the jury what Tirst at

attention to this man 0'Brien and any other man?® ‘ :
loud talking, - ; -

R GOIMITHi Now, 1 objeet te thins, if your Henmor

please, There is no evidence hare that the m"

there At the tinme,

YHE COURT: What is that?.
MR GOTDSMITH: There is no evidence here that the de=
fendant was there at that time? Whatever happened there; or

was sald or done in his ahsence=~- LaaE

THE COURT: You oannot prove & oase mjh one wordd nﬁ' -
posing they can preve that he heard a wordy discuesion, I “
noet know what ias is, going on between this nﬂﬁ‘!ﬂ-ﬁ and

some: other man?

3

MR GOTDSMITHY Weuld that have any bhearing on the m

dant?
THE COURT3 And suppesing that thay m pnvgm

that other man was the defendant, and that that MI' w

the defendant, shot 0'Brien in the head, wouldn'$ that \t
missible? They cannet conneet him with it all as

they de net conneet this defendant with the case, yeu -m
not suffer ene partiocle,
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¥R, GOLDEMITH snmcxumwm
and protect my ollent from the legal tewtimeny *
in? _

THRE COURT: Well, I will give you m wm “ 4
it. We want te get at this case, in some way " ke

MR, WOTT: To clear matters up; I say that 1 .
this on the promise to identify the other m”“
conversation and transaction, as the defendants

THE COURT: Yes, The District Attommey m ”
will connect the defendant with this other persons é

MRe NOTT: Perhaps I ought to have oalled the j‘:‘:’- 5 :
witnesses whe identify him first, but I will cemneet it

all right,

BY MR, NOTT:

‘‘‘‘‘‘‘

Q Now vou say you heard loud cenversation? A Yesy md
Q@ And where was it taking place? A A Jlittls further
down fran where we were sitting, on the same side of the roem;

right near a door, I believe it was a tellet. I am net

sure.

Q Now, was that before or after this colored man sang?

A That was after the colored man sang.
Q How long after? A I guess; about five or eight

“.\lt..o I am not p°.1t1‘..

Q wow, when your attentien was attracted teo this noine;




you say you heard the nolse dowy by the tollet?
A Yes, sir,

Q@ This tollet that appears here on this plan !it-
dicating)? A Yes, sir; right about therse (MW;
BY THE COURT: ' '

Q@ In front of the tollet? A Yes, sir,

BY MR, NOTT:

Q In front of the men's or women's tollet? t“ m i

of the men's toilet, 8 B
Q@ You say you heard this ooa;:ruun in M‘iﬁ s
men's toilet? A Yes, sir, : v 3@6 ik
§ And state whether ornotmmmt-lm |
there? A I know O'Brien, I seen him there,
BY THE COURT!
Q@ And was he one of the men engaged in this a)
A Yes, sir.
BY MR, NOTT: | o
Q And did you eee anybody else there, with him?
A Bome other gehtleman and a lady.
Q@ Then there were O'Brien, anether man and & woman?
A Yes, sir, '
Q Could you identify that weman, if you sew herf
A Yes, sir.

Q@ Do you see the woman here? A Yes, sip.




Q IuMcm“Juﬂmhh“(M}'
A Yes, sir, '

Q@ And you say that she was standing with these men,
with the man 0'Brien and the other party, right in M of
the men's tollet? A Yes, sir, : |

¥R. OOLDEMITH: Objected tos I chjest t0 any ques~
tion heing put teo this witness, while you bring il.
woman for identifieation, | %

THE COURT! Well, I will give you sn exception %0

that, FHe identifies this woman as being the persem im

front of this closet; talking %o these two men, N
BY THR COURT:

@ De you de that, Witness? A You. sir,

MR, NOTT: Now, on my promise to connect, and show
that theother man of these two men was the defendant,

by two other witnesses, I will ask the witness for that

conversation, and the subsequent occurrences.

THE COURT: Very wells
BY MR, NOTT:

Q@ You say you can't identify the other man that was
talking there positively? A VNe, sir,

Q Well, go ahead and state wvhat was said there?

MR, GOLDSMITH: I object.
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THE COURTI On the statement of the Distriet Ate
torney that he will connect the defendant, ss heing ome
«mm--muumtmm.nﬁu,
time, I will allew it. | B
MR, GOLDSMITH: Rxoeptien,
A O'Brien was talking first.
BY THE COURT: o
Q@ And what 4id 0'Brien say, and what did the mm
son say? A Vell 0'Srien was talking kind of loud, “ﬁ
pointed to different saloons around thers, and he M‘*
different names, '
@ He peinted to the éifferent saleons arcund there, and
called him differentnames? A Yes, sir,
BY MR, NOTT:
Q Well, show how he peinted? A He pointed over in
that direction (illustrating).
Q Now, just tell the jJury how he said 187 A He saild,
"That sop of a bitoh ever there, and that bastard over on
that corner, and seme fellow down there, he would get square
on the whole dunch of them,*
3Y THE COURT1
Q O0'SBrien said that? A Yes, sir,
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BY KRy NOTT:
Q Gooom. A Auhouu."mmommm

I'21 get you, too.*

BY THE COURT) e i
Q@ And he said®you, you stool pigeen, I will get m

A Yes, sir,

e i
Shabi &
w" 2 »
4 \«'...

e

BY MR, NOTT:

Q@ Now go on,and teld dutmuaiyth..mm
A I didnet hear the other man speak at all,

@ Did you hear the woman say anything? A ﬁ .lﬂ
they were good friende, and they shouldnrs m |
BY THE COURTS

Q 8he sald, they were good friends; and they shouldn®s
quarrel? A Yes, sir, And 0'Brien speke uwp and sald,
*You are sticking up for all of the vhepe®.

Q@ Well who saild that? A 0'Briens

Q@ O'Brien said that this other man was sticking wp
for all the whops? A Yes, sirj and didn,t care for his om
fixn friends at all,

Q And dddn't care for his owmn friends, at all?
A Yes, sir, And he went to go out of the door, M.'“ :
he went over on this other side of the partitiem.

BY MR, NOTT:
Q ¥ow just wait. After 0'Brien made that remark
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sbout the wheps, vhat 414 O'Brien de, if m
went over towards that deer, | &
Q Wew, which door did he go ever toward? mh

the plan here? A There is a partition right here ﬂm
~dicating), and & little epening right there; and he M
down through this space (indleating), and ever mw
deor here (indieating). ‘ ‘
Q maunmamnﬂnwmtmmm
put an X at the door towards which he went? A Yes, mtm
dieating)s L
Q@ And he went down this space (indisating), -nm
towards that hall door? A Yes, sim, |

BY THE OOURT)

Q@ That is the deor leading out inte the hall, isnst AP
A Yes, sir,

BY MR, NOTT:

@ Inte the little side hall? A Yeas, sir,

Q@ Yow had 0'Brien, up to that time, done anything te
this other man? A Ne, sir,

Q@ And when 0'Brien started dowm this space, and diagen+
ally aeress toward that little hall door, what did the
other man do? A I dida't netioe him at the time, I we
watohing 0'Brien,




Q And what 4id O'Brien de? A Well, hie went
steps (indicating), and I ran over %o ses this Mlﬁ
them three steps (indicating), with the revolver in his _
He had a revolver in his hand, " o Sy

Q Now you say you ran over, You had been .‘m“ w

that table? A Yes, sir,

Q@ And where did you run over tof A Over %o w :
tition there (indicating). ol

Q Toward the head of the steps? A Yes, sire

Q@ Now tell the jury, whether there was, at that
anything across there, in front of the steps (
A Yes, sir, i

Q What was 1t? A A partition, a big mMItm

Q@ well, a partition o7 a soreen? A Well, it uum
of wood, 1like a fence, |

Q@ And that runs across there (indicating)?
A Yes, sir,

Q@ And does it ge all the way aeross? A Ne, sirj
there is two openings.

Q 0 either side? A Yes, sir.

Q And to which opening did yeu go? A This side, where
0"Brion went dowm (indieating). 7

Q@ 80 that you were over there (indicating), near that
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wall, and near the hesd of the steps? A Yewy siry
A Yes, sir; I looked dewn that 154%3e piace Shere (ine
dieating). : ;

Q@ Yow when you lecked dowmn, what 414 you see?

A I seen this gentleman fires a shet.

Q§ You saw this gemtlewan fire s shet? A Yes, Sirs

Q And wherse was 0'Brien standing, at the timet
A Standing by that deor, where the X is (indieating).

Q@ That is the door leading inte the hallwmy?

A Yes, sir,

Q And how far away Trom him was this other man?
A About that entrance there into the bar (indicating)s

Q About that entrance there inte the bar? A Yea,sir,

Q@ Inte the main bart A Yes, sir,

Q@ That is, O'Brisa was at this deor (indisating) and
the other man was abdout in front of this entrance (W'
A Yes, sir,

Q@ Well, now, did you hear the other man say sything,
at the time, or just bhafore he fired the shot? A Ne, sir.

Q@ You say you saw him ~= well; g0 on, and Sell in your
own language what happened, when you looked Aown theref?

A 0'Srien wanted te get behind the doorgafter Wha Shot was
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Q@ No, Defore the shet wes fired, tell whet h wpene
MR, GOLDEMITH! m«mu.umm
to. xwtmwmummu-nlh'
repsat what he has already testified,
THE COURT: Allowed,
A 0'Srien ws standing, helding the kmeb of the dser 3Lk
mucmuuuwmmumm
fired the shet,
q Mﬂxlmm.mummmﬂhﬁ
talking to 0'Brien? A Yes, sir, ‘
Q With this woman? A Yes, sir,
Q And, at the time he Tired the shet, mwuw
sbout An fromt of the deor iute 4w main geleent .
A Yas, sir,
Q And, when he fired the shet, what did 0*Brien 4ot
A m.c'mxn.mtrmu“umﬂmwmn
and then this fellew that had the gun, he sald, “Come frem he=

hind there, and I*1l give you anether shot,*
BY THR OOUR®:
Q He said to 0'SBrien, "Come frem behind there and 3'A3

give you mﬂ»r shot? A Yep, sir,
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BY MR, WOTT! |
Q@ Did he say saything else? A ln.tmgsm.m

Some people got in there, and interfered with him, from

shooting again, I donst ¥now whe they were, and 0'Srien went

out,

And then this fellow made a break teo go inte the

and he said, *"He as much as called me a stoed PW F

Q@ wow where was 0'Brien, when this Mﬂ“ﬂﬁﬂl’
“Gome from behind that door, and I'1l plug you again®?
A O0'Brien was in behind the door. . ‘

Q Well did the man say anything to O'Brien, them?
A Weo, sir. O0'Brien went out, et

@ Did he say anything about the Mﬂ' A Well ==

MR, GOLDSMITH: I object to leading the M

if your Homer please, unless ihe wiiness has sxiausted

his memory.
BY THE COURT1

€@ Can you remember anything else that he said?
A Yes, sir. He sald, "He as much as called me a steel
pigeon,® and then he said he would go to the shair for that
fellow,
BY MR, NOTT:

@ VFow where did this other man go te, after he uade that



e i

£ Y e e A v, s el — e e S . i O
b

1 ,
remark, and O'Brien wentinte the hald? A Wi, 7 rodl
0'Srien, I didn't ses where this other man went tes % |
Q Where did you follew 0'Brien? A xmmﬁﬁ-
)mn.-uo'aﬂcnmwmwmxm.unwﬁ 3
Pell Street. ik A
And he oame back to the corner of Bowsry and m’
said, *He shot me in the stomach.* i ik
THE COURT: No, Strike that out, what 0'Brien
said, And I mtmcmamuww b
not give any cenversations unless ﬁh‘ M ﬂ '

;r‘ B 308, e

’” * i b i ¥ 3 ".V‘L ;-‘;.‘_: 18

¥ IR

BY MR, NOTT:
q num.oomgtnmtow
MR, GOLDSMITH: I objest to that as immateriady
trrelevant and incompetent and imprepers : |
THE OOURT: Allewed, A
MR. GOLDSBMITH: RExceptione- ’
A Some gentleman brought his hat te him. '
BY THE COURT3
Q BSeme gentleman brought his hat to him?
A Yes, sir,
BY MR, NOTT:
Q@ And gave At %o him? A Yes, sir.
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Q And where wes O'Brien, when that hat wehasied 84"
him? A In & saleon in Pell Street, i
Q On which side of the Bewery? A Uptewny
Q@ Uptowm,in Pell Street? A Yes; sir, _
Q And on which side of the Bowery? The same side &8
23, or the other side? A Neo, sirj the other * ‘“ |

Ny Dl
; A R
o +
A

Bowery. : o

Q@ The other side of the Bewery? A Mm v
Q And then what 4id O'Brien do? A !Mﬂhﬂ

slevated station them, and I didn't ses 0'Brien after M .

BY THR 0OURTS o
Q@ Did this party, whoever it was, whe fired this pisted,

fire more than one shet? A No, sir,

Q Ome shot? A Yes, sir,
BY MR, NOTT:
Q Did you ever know this defendant? A ll.mq
Q Had you ever had any trouble with him of any sert?
A o, sir,
Q@ Did you ever knew O'Brien before that night?
A No, sir,
Q@ Did you ever see him before that night?
A Neo, sir,

Q You are not a friend of his? A Ney sir,
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BY THE COURT: ol
Q@ How far was 0'Brien from this man whe ‘.ﬂ T
digate here, in thereem, the 4i m. to the jurys * 1
far they were apart, .tmemmonuMMM
at hin? A Prom vhere I am, about, nﬂamm
THR COURT: How many feet is thet, mm

r
hsighsiodyy

you agree upen that?
BY MR, NOTTH |
Q You mean Mr. Appleton, here (indieating)? A m
THE COURT: Would that be ten faet, m‘m
Jury, freom where he sits to where Mry Appleten “ b aad i)
there?

o P —— oy —— " e a2 d
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THE SINTH JUROR: About twelve feet,

THE COURT: Iunttocotmmmm

THR THIRD JUROR: About twelve feets

HRe WOTT: Welil, this diagram is drawm £t a seale,
and the jury can figure it out, He has losated the
two parties on the record, and; by caloulating the
seale , you can get it better, gentlemen,

THE COURTt! Well, I enly want to get it on the
record, whether they were touching eash other, er there

was some appreciable space petween them,



OROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, GOLDENITH: g
QmmM&MN.MLMAMM
I was working, |

Q@ What time did you ge to werk? A TFour s'slosk in

the afternoon.

Q@ And what wers your hours?  Four o'elesk m .

Q@ And where 414 you work? uu&M
A 104th Street and colm Avenue,

Q Mmmmcnihthomm“”“

A Ne, eir, :
Q@ B? A Ne, sir,. ey

Q Where was he exployed? A I den't know where he was

employed.

Q@ How long de you kneow Brady? A h&l.fhhﬂw'
up im our office, during that sumser, sbout four menthss

Q Kumuumwtmw«uuuw:
in question? A Why, yes. '

@ Whers? A He used to ocome around te the offiee,
every night.

Q Was he around at the office between four o'slosk

that afterncon and twe e'clock that merning? A He reached

there about 12 My

Q@ And you were still on duty? A Yes, sir,




Q And 444 you have a conversation with Brady?
A Yes, sir,

] 'oﬂynm“'-ynuﬂ—l sir?

@ (Question repeated) A ¥Neo, sir,

Q You didn,t leave the office that time? A e, sir,

Q Was Brady in the office toe? A Yes, sirj; he same
in the office, ,

Q@ How leng was he in the office? A Mmm

Q Prem what time until what time? A Frem shout A8
e'clock until I got off, at 2, the time I was offs

Q 12 midnight until 8 As Mu? A Yes; sir. £

Q He waited there for you? A Wes; siri %,

Q@ And you lived, as I understand; at 108nd Street?
A Yes, sir, |

q@ And you lived with yowr father and mothert

A Yes; sir, : ~
Q@ Now had you been out with Bradys; befere this tw A m :
nignt hafere I was down at the same place with Bradys . :
Q@ But it wasn't the first time that you had visited “‘
place that you were in? A Neo, sirj the second times
Q@ Hed you heen in any other place along that street?
A ¥Ne, sir,
Q@ This was the enly place that you had visited, the
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night befere? A Yes, sir, .
Q Were you in Pell Street? A Walked through Pelld
~ Street that night, bhefore we went there.

Q Any other street thcmmw
A Yo, sir,
Q@ Did you h&vlmy-uuy with you? A About & de
Q How much did Brady have? A xoauunmm
Q@ What® A He dldn*t have anything.
& Brady wms broke? A Yes, sir, _
Q You werd taking Brady areund, eh? A He brought
me around, and I had the meneys e it g
Q He was taking you around, and you were spending the

money? A Yes, sir,

Q@ In ether words, he said, "Come aleng down thers,
MoGivern, and I'll treat you with youf om money™? Is that
the idea? A Yes, sir,

MR, NOTT: He furnished the capital, and Brady fure
nished the experience.
BY MR. COLDSMITH:

Q@ 3Brady had no treuble in getting inte places he wanted

to got inj} had he? A Yes, sir, He wanted te get in Ne,
9 but they wouldn,t let him in.
Q@ wow when did you intend t0 go home? A I wanted to ge
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A SAHE
te Chinatown. | _‘ '
Q Veren't you there, the night before? A Yes, m
but I wanted to see it again, _
Q@ You haventt beean there sinoe? A wo, sir,
Q@ You were in the House of Detention; mru’
A Yes; sir. : ;
Q How leng? A Saturday night I went thore, and £ gob
out on Tussday. e
thmm.ntomomvlmm
Q@ Did you make a statement in that court? A Yes, sir,

Q Was this defendant there? A I didn*t ses him w o

Q@ When was the first time mtmmthum
(indieating the utonunt)? A This is the first time I
saw him, to recognise him, to kneow him sgain,

Q@ This is the first time you ever saw him, ain'ts is?

A Yes,.

Q@ Sure about that? A Yes:

MRy NUTT: He says,; to recognise him. I objest te
that.
BY 'R, GOLDSMITH?

Q@ Weren't you taken inte the Tombs Prison? A Yes,sir,

Q@ And wasnet this man breught out %o you? A !ﬁ. sirs
He was anongst a bunch of meny if he was therey I didn's




recognize hin,

Q@ You didnit recognise him? A WNe, sir,

Q Fow you got inte this saloon about 3 ofeleck in the
morning} didnit you? A Yes, sir, ‘

Q How many drinks did you have? A One. ‘

Q@ Did you have any before you got there? A llﬁa;fﬁé‘

Q Did Brady have any? A Ne, o

Q@ Do you know whether Brady hel been fired out -t
place, about two months before that, or two nights ww
A TNe, sir, L :

@ He hadn,t teld you about that experience Mh
A No, sir,

Q And,; all told, how long were you in tﬂ-l m T
A About twenty-five minutes.

Q@ You saw everything that went on, or tried to?f
A VWell, in that time} yes,

Q@ In that time? A Yes, sir,

Q You were awake? A I certainly was, ‘

@ And you went down to see everything, and you C‘“
see everything? A I seen everything I coulddj .Cm

Q Now you say that ne colored man played tha piane?
A ¥ot while I was in there, ne.

@ During the twenty-five minutes? A Neo, siry



e R i AR b S S Ry W m— g )

the piane. ' f senes

Q ¥ow, how did you resegnise O'Brien? A WAl hewss |
doing all the loud talking, and I seen him, and z; St
him then} and when they breought me %o m o i ‘
I recognised him, and now I resognise him, 5 h i i

R e

Q Now you had your eyes wide open; and were '&
N¥ow ean you say that the defendant was ﬂ!m: or not?

A His back was turned to me, I didne+t notice him, '

Q‘ Well, you ran over to see where this “""‘“, ” |
A Yes, but other people were them teej I I!l m
all the time, | L

Q@ But you could see the other pesple? VQ sure.

Q OCould you recognize the man that fired the Mg
when you saw him, Af you saw him again? A Ne, .

Q Why not? A Because I didn+t get a good look at
him,

Q DBecause you didn,t get a good leok at him?
A Yo, sir,

Q The only man that you got a good look at was 0'Brien?

A That's all.

Q And the woman? A This woman, I seen her; the night

before there,




R This Sadie Banis? A Yes, sir,

Q Now, after this 0'Brien had been shet, 414 you and
Brady go out? A I went out alone. Brady lw“m

Q@ What 444 you say to Brady? Anything? A I tedd
him I was going te beat it..

Q
Q

A Yes, sir, )
@ Did you stake your friend Brady? A Nej} he dldn's

You were going %o beat 187 A Yes, air,
In other words, you ware going t0 get uptowm?

ask me Tor ne stake.,

q

oS L L & &

Yok

Q
Q

He had no meney? A Ne, sir,

And you were his friend? A Yes; sir,

And you were going to heat 147 A Certainly,

And you 4id beat 1t? A I did beat 1%,

And you got out en the strees? A Certainly,

And you teok the elevated, for yours? A For M y'

h? A 0.?“1513.,
And you went right home? A Right home.
Apd when was the next time you heard anything about

this thing? A In the newspapers.

Q
q

Well, you read it in the newspapers? A M“‘;.
Did you g0 teo work, the next day? A Certadnly.




Q And, after you went to werk, 414 snybedy call on
you! A Wos

Q@ BT A Ve, sir.

Q@ Whe took you to court? A BSome detestive sams W

af'ter me,
Q When? A M«tnﬂnmwiﬁwm
@ When? A YNew Years Bve,
Q New Years Bve? A Yes, sir,
@ And when did this happen? A The S9%h of Desesbers
Q The Z9th of pecember? A Yes, sire g

RE-DIRBOT EXAMINATION BY MR, NOTT)
@ Oh, 4id you hear any name given t0 that solored man,
whe sang a song there? . A They called him Naude. ,
MR, GOLDEMITH: What was that? I didnet eatoh thet

Answar,
MR, NOTT: He says thay called him Maude.

JAMBES J, BRADY, a.witness called on behalf of the
People, being duly swory, testified as fellowsi
DIRBOT BXAMINATION BY MB. WOTTj
Q@ ¥ow, Brady, Just Lift your veleco, and remeuber that
these two gentlemen have got to hear every word you say. Hew
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old are you, Brady? A A6 yoars of age.
Q
Q

How 0147 A 16 yearss

And when were you 167 A July 19th,

Last July? A Yc;. sir, _
Where do you live? A 202 West 133rd Streets
And what is your business? A Messsnger boys
Who are you a messenger boy for? A Pestal
And what office? 'hnyoumttng(nWM~

Q
Q
Q
Q

Q
A Yes, sir, |

@ n vhat office? A In 30th Street and Broadway.

Q@ Did you knew the other boy, MeGiverm? A M M

Q Wow, tell the jury whether or not yeu went anywhere
with MoGivern, on the night of Deecember 2Wth, or the eardy

o

norning hour? A Yes, sir,
Q Where did you met him? A I met MoGiverm at 104%h
Street and Columbus Avenue,
Q Did youw go up there? A Yes; sir,
Q And what timmitwhonh‘;ﬂﬂu‘mﬁmm’
A He got out at 23010.
Q@ In themorning? A Yes, sirg
Q@ And then where did you and MeGiverm ge? A Went on
the 9th Avenus elevatory and then we teok the 3rd Avenue

slevater around to Chatham Square, and we got off, and went




Ty
o7,

inte 23 Bowery.

right down to this place, 23 Bowery? A Yes, siry * o

MeGivern was, ' ot

Q@ He had his uniform on? A Yes, sir, : el

Q Well, do you remsmber which deor you went ua’ %)
the place? A Yes, nir, | e

Q Which? A 23 = in the saloen part.  Dub maxt te
the saloon there is a doory ‘ e ? :

Q fate this haliwey (indisating)? A Yes, siry

Q ¥Now, after you went inte the hallway, where ‘ﬂm
go? A Right back into the rear room, uwp three staps, and
sat at a table in the corner. |

Q Well, now, this table, was it ummw‘m ‘
town side of the room? A Well, it was on the left hand
side, car in that corner; like that (illustrating). |

Q The left hand side, as you went in? A Yes, m,

Q New, this place is on the east side of the Dewery
isn't 489 A On the east side »

Q@ 23 is on the easterly side of the Bowery?
$

A Yeasy, siry

Q m»xtmnthhﬁhmdouaumm_*j |



from the street? A Yes, sir,

Q

that hour? A Yas. sir,

Q
Q

A on thetep step,,

Q
Q
.l‘lo.

Q

And were thmmnhcrm’hhmﬁnu;“
Were there many or few? A Oh, quite a lot,
Were they all men? A 014 men? |

I say, all men? A No, sirj there .l“ w
Women and men? A Yes, sir. i
Was there any musio geing on; in that place?

sir,

What kind of musie? A A ptm-

Was the place lighted? A !‘n; eir,

Was the saloen in front lighted? A A dim light, 1%

But the back place was lighted? A Yes, sir,

Was thera any screen across, near thoss steps? ;
a partition. |
well, you oall it a partitieon? A Yes, sir,

And how near the top of the steps was that muw‘

And did 1% go all the way asross? A yo, siry
Was there a space at either end?: A Yes} on doth

On hoth ends, you could go around? A Yes, sirye



Q As you came wp the steps, thers was $his
partition as you call it, and you could go on m
it, to get inte the besk room? A Yes, siry e

Q Did you hear anybedy sing there? A Yes, sir,

Q@ Who sang? A A man they oalled Maude, e

q@ White or colored? A Colored,

Q New, after you had been there a while, 414

attract your attentien? A Yes, sir,

@ Before I come to that, mtmmmmm

asked him for a glass of beer, and I sald, "lho nu.'

Q Well did he furnish you a glass of beer?
A Yes, sir..

Q Did either of you pay for it? A The both of us
for it,

Q And did you drink it? A Yes, sir,

@ mwow, after that did anything attract your ltW- ‘
A Yes, sir,. '

Q@ Vhat? A An argument,

Q And where was the argument going on? A Right mear
the partitvion, . b

Q Near this partition, near the steps (indicating)?
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A in. sir,

Q@ And who was in the argument? A Snith and

and a woman. A A
Q Vhen you say Smith, whe de you mean? ‘ ;“m
man there (indicating the defendant), A
Q The defendant? A Yes, air,
Q Had you ever seen him before? A Yem

{3 w3
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When? A The night before thats

You had been in the same place? A Yos, sirs

The night before? A Yes, sir, ,

And you had seen the same man? A M'.lﬂf

And a man named O'Brien? A Yes, sir. it

Q@ Have you seen him iinu? A Yo, sir} I m saw

® L L L o

him before.

Q I say, have you seen him sinee that QM»
A Yes, sir, ‘

Q@ Bye the Yye, did you have any meney with m‘“
night? A I had -~ no, I didnet have any meneys

Q Well, where did you get the meney that you paid lﬂ;
the drinks with? A Off Joe MoGivern.

Q Now tell the jury what this argument wasy wn'd_l
you heard pass between this 0'Brien and this defendant, ﬂﬂ |

A Well, what drawed our attragction was these two men's




argument and talk, and they were speaking to each ry
all what drawed our attention was Smith said, m
with you,” naming cursing names in the place, and “ 4

three places,

Q@ Who was it said that?
Just show thajury, A He pointed up that ﬂ t
» bad word, and he said, "I'l1 get even en mm

e e
Q And what did Smith say? Am.uﬁm«p
let me see, now,
Q Was there any one else there?
MR, GOLDSMITH: Noj I objeok to Shats T aek thet

the question be put te the witness, and the witness als S

dowed %o an swer,
MR. NOTT: All right,
BY MR. NOZT%
Q Did you 8ee  Smith do anything there?
A Yes, sir,
Q Well, what did he say, first? A He said, *"You willp®
And he put his hand in his hip pecket, and he drawed this



revolver.
BY THR COURT!:
Q Who said that? A Smith, s T
Q He said, *You will?* And put his hand '.i.“%p"ﬁ¢ Qj
pocket, and drew a revelver? A Yes, .".

BY MRe NOTT: 5 LG
Q@ Now was there anybody else near mﬁ

\

the time? A Yes, sir,
Q@ Whe? A A woman, &
Q Have you seen her sinee? A Yes, iy
Q Would you identify her, if you ~~ £ BRI |

A Yes, sir,
MR. NOTT: Just ask her to step in.
BY MR, NOTT: : |

Q@ Well, now, go on. Did you hear this w*wf"‘
thing, in this discussion? A Yes, sir,

Q Whatdld she say? A She sald to 0'Briem == me, 4%
was to Smith -~ she said, "Den't argue. You know that ne is
your best friend.*

BY THE COURT!

Q@ Wno said that? A The woman said that,

Q Vhat did she say? A *Den't argue. He is your best
friend.*

BY MR, NOTT:
Q And what elee did you hear said then? A And 0'Srien

sald ==
Q Is that the weman that you saw there (indicating)?
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MR NOTT) quuuhuum-fj

this is the sme woman that was identified ,v'
@R COURT: Yes. ‘
BY MR NOTT:

Q Well, go on, What did you hear said then? A “ﬂ
says,; "You are all the oause of 1%," and Pushe p== o .

@ Who snid thet? A O'Srien sadd that te the ladye

@ What did he my9 A "You are mmmtﬂ&'ﬂ
pushes this lady right away.

Q Then vhat did you hear said, uawm & mm |
it was the arguwsent, and Smith drawed the mom

Q wowy Yefore the revolver was MM”W”
thing else said that you remenber? A 1 might, wut 1 M’l re=

member now, unless the question was put teo mes
qQ Did veu hear anvthing said abowt Whepn? _
MR GOTDSMITHE Objected to as immaterialy incempetent
and leading.
THRE COURTy Allowed,
MR GOIDSMITHt Rxceptions
A Yes, sir.
BY MR NOTTy
Q@ Whe said anything about that? A Well, 0'Arien sald
te Smith, "You etiek up Tor all these whops around here®s
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Q O'Brien said to Smith, "You stisk wp for M

whops around here™ A Yes, sin

Q O'Brien mid that teo Smith? A Yes, -ln
BY MR NOTT:

Q And, after that remark was nade, what did O3
A O'Brien? e

Q Yes. Did he stay there or go anywhere, "M m&o
do? A Well, he walked slanting and went down M m

Q And what did Smith de? A He went mnmm
of ite 5 ST

Q Of what? A Of the partitioms

Q@ That ia, yvou say O0'Brien went down en the side of the |
partition nearest the toilet, on that side ( 1,.;.1..“.,,, ‘
A Yes, sir.

Q@ And Smith went--- A . Feo, sire Snith went on that
side.

Q@ O'Brien went over to the side of the partition teos
ward the wall? A Yes, sir,

Q@ And went down ¥ A Yes, sin,

Q And Smith went through the other side? A Yeay sirs

Q@ And what did yvou de? A Then ]I followed him right wp
to the top of the steps.

Q@ Did yeu Tolleow Smith or 0'Brien? A 1 was on the side




of 0'Brien, &%
Q@ That is, the side next to the wall? A | o
Q@ Did you look around the partitien? A N |
Q Well, 4id yeu stand dehind the r 434 3
utnth“yumummmn"
MR GOLDRMITHY e sald he was m*
of O'Briens | !
THE WITRESSy Ne, 1 didn't say thaty I nﬂt
in back of him, Tellewed him downs
BY MR NOT™

Q@ 1 moan, did you get where yeu sould me
muummdthownhmtmmm-tmhm
A Yes, girs

Q@ And what did yeu see? A 1 see Suith draw the

and Tirs & shet at lin,

Q And where was Smith at the tmnplh‘ﬁm
and fired the shotj at that time? A He was down on the “W

Q@ At the bettom of the steps? A Yes, siry

Q@ Where was 0'Brien? A O'Brien was at the bettemy

Q Vell, st what part, near the bettem, was 0'Srien afy
with reference to the hall? A He was near the deoory

Q The door going inte the hall? ‘ '

Q@ And how Tar away T n hia was
a3 frem here to you (indieatingly this distancey




4 . : s
@ Roughly spesking, sbout ten or twelve Mﬁ*&.
sirj tem or twelve feet, e

Q And was that the time that he Tired? A Yes, sire

Q@ And who 444 he aim at, when he Tired? A Ho ained ot
0*Brien, i

Q@ Yow, up to that time, had 0'Brien dene mum
A Yo, sir. ‘

Q Except--1 mean anything except the argument? A ‘.
sir, - | |

Q Or what he said %o hin? A N, usummlh
or nothings .

Q Did O'Brien have anything in his hande? A Ne, #irs .

Q@ Now, did Smith make any remark, &% the time, or sheut
the time he fired this shet? A Yes, sire . - ‘

@ Vell, what was it? A FHe says, *Stand ewt, pntil 3
got another shet at you®, he sayss . "

Q@ And where was 0'Brien when Swith wade that remarkf
A Behind the deer, There is the door, and he was standing
like that, with the deor cevering him (illmstratingl. =

Q Vas that after the shet? A Yes, pirj after the shot
had hit him.

§ Dees that deor swing in or out? A % -"lh-.

@ As shown in this plan here (indicating)? There is the
hall (indiosting)? A There is the hall (indiesting)e ‘




Q@ Now, there is the hall deor (indiesting)?® l

Q@ And there are the steps (indionting)? A mg:ib '

Q And does the door swing into the reem, irmilhﬁn
hall? A Well, 1 couldn't remenber that, ' i

Q Vell, where was O'Brien? Was he in the hall er in the
room? A In the roem,

@ 3Behind this deer you say (hﬂloﬂtﬂ” ‘ Yo, m

@ And he sald what? A  “Stand out wntdd J get anether
shot at ycu; 1 will go to the chair for yeus®

Q@ And what did O'Brien de then? A He kind of staggered;

and ran out of the door;

S
—

Q@ And what did Saith de? A Suith teok the pisteld and
put it in his hand and went behind the harh .

Q Inte the front part? A Yas, sirs .

¥ And &t that time did you mee wybedy ol @ with & res
velver there? A Yo;, -1;. ‘

Q@ Whe? A An old man with a gray bearis He sald, "For
Ged's sake, put = it sway.*

Q@ Whe did he say that te? A To Smith,

Q And what did Smith do them? A Fe put it in his handy.
and put it behind the counter.

Q@ Behind the har? A Yes, sir,

Q@ Well, what beocace of MeGivern? A MeGivern?® i

Q@ Yes: A Well, after this was all deme, and he put the
pistol away, he run out of this hall deor, and he run up on the
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elevated station.
Q@ MeGivern 4id? A Yes, sire

Q Yow, what did Smith do , after he put the revelver a _
behind the ocounter? A 1 oculdn't tell you what he m »

Q@ Well, what did you do? A I went out wltt ik 54

Q And what 4id vou de then® A 1 went right over “m
low O'Briens . B .I

Q@ And where did you see .mm A 1 think it was at ’M
Street, if 1 aint mistaken, 1 aint familiar with the streets
down there, ‘ _

Q What was he doing when you sew him? A e was stags
gering; and he said, "Oh, my"e~ _

Q@ Yever mind what he saids What happened then? A Twe
men brought him into the drug stores

Q@ Vhere was it? The drug store? A On the opposite side,
near Chatham Square.

Q@ And did you go in there? A No, sirs But 1 wanted %o
talk to the officer ahout it, and he chased me away,

Q Vhere did you go, when he chased you away? A 1 went
over to themain office of the Postal Telegraphs

Q And where is that? A 203 Broadwuys

Q And 414 you go back to B Bowery? A After that) ves,

Q@ Vell, was that hefore you went over to the main office,
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or afterwards® A Afters
Q@ Well, what did you deo over at the main offioe? A Ohy

1 went hask to 23 Bowery.
Q@ Before you went to the main office? A Yes, sin |
Q And what did you say after veu got n-tnmm
A Well, I went back there, to see could I sse anything M
and this man named Kelly was putting men out Wy twese
MR oommm: Oh, I ohject to that, umm
pleanse, .
w = } \
Q Who is Kelly? A He was the bartenders
Q@ Had you seen him in there before the shooting?
A Before the shooting, ves, sir
Q@ And while the defendant was there? A Yeas, sir.
Q He was the hartender in the place? A Yes, sirs
Q@ And you saw him, you say, putting men ous, Wy twos?
A Yes, sir, .
® Did you go inside? A Yes, sir,
Q@ And how leng were you t?or‘ before you went out again?
A About three--about fiv. nimites,
Q@ Vere there any women in there, when you entered the
second time? A Ne, sir, v
Q What did Kelly do with them? A Put them up in & rocms

There was & door en that sidey, on the side of the toilet (ine
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dionting) with » big losk on ity and he put them wp 0 Sha

and he put the men out by twos in the hall, and Seld them |

out before the police ommes ' U et
THR COURT: Nea Teave that out, whet he teld Mﬁ

do. Do not give any cemversations e . iy

Q Now, did you go out? A Yeu, sirj I wemh cuke e jut u

e sl e
Q@ And when yeu got out what happensd? A “;“m

there was policenen out there, grabding "“7“ M lﬂ "

of there, and searching their wm.. Oy m ‘; S R

QR T

the one whe shet O'Drul.
Q@ Well, did the officers step anydody? A Yes, % Q
let three men ge, and stepped the fourth man, and he said, Q
think we*ll hold him.® ,
THE COURT: Nea Never mind what he saids Striks thet
out, '
Q@ Did you see how many persens he stepped, if any?
A Yes, sir,
Q How many? A Oh, abputies=
Q@ 1 don't mean those he let go again, ut how many did
he keep? A Oh, only ouﬁ
Q@ Only one? A Yes, sir.
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Q@ And he ot the others go? A no.ua;..

€@ Did he step you? A M-' u.m

@ Then whare 4id you ge? A mtmnlm
Mommntm'nmnl.ﬂM““
again, over te the drug store, mnmomm

@ Did you see O'Brien there? A Ne, M s

Q¢ Did yeu go inside? A Ve, siry, i 5

@ What became of the man Shat the police mxﬂ
you mee? ~ ,.;g_,; “

MR GOIDSMITH: ohjected te & s-nuul, m
vant and in«mtont. ¥ ‘i‘“ f* -

THE COURT:. Was that the defendant?
nmni lo. 8irs
THE COURTY 1 de net think that is meterials
Y MR NOTT .
Q@ Now, was the defendant in there, mm g0t besk there
the secend time? A The defendant?
Q Yes, was Smith there then when you owme bask there the
seoond tine? A No, sirs
Q@ Did you see him? A Ne, sir. :
Q Well, did you ses what beowme of O"Arien? A W 5
Q Yesa A Yes, air, | e o
@ What? A He was over in the drug sberes and Shey Breud
hin te the heospital.



o L AT

eI

W 01 A M A T - " - P, .

10 A,
Q Tow 41d they get him there? A 1 didn*s mee Whet they

were doing to him,

Q well, did you see him taken out of the drug store?
A Yes, sir. '

Q Well, what was he put inte, if aaything? A Inte am

&

ambu lances ‘ i

Q And do you reme:ber what hospital it was fren? A Mo,
sir, 1 don't,

Q Wall, you saw him taken mway in the ambulance? l “

sire & o
Q Did yo\l\ see him after that? A !‘.o. sire :
Q@ Where? A In the hospital, . R
Q@ Yhat hospital? A I forget the name of the hospitals T

Q And how long was it after that that you saw him in the
hospital? A 1 think it was the day aﬁor; V. ‘

Q Yow, did veu give your name te anybody? Did anybedy
take your name? A No, sir.

Q@ Well, how did you hauppen to be & witness in the onse?
A Well, it was in 30th Street, 1 asked a policeman that ;m .
en the Broadway heat--] knowed him bW sight--and I teld hh
about it. : '

THR cmm'ﬁ No. Jeave out any conversatien wttﬁ

that officer,

BY MR NOTTs ’

Q@ YNew, you say when you spoke with the officers down {



there about it, they chased yow out of the MOM A M #ire
MR GORMSMITH: Now I objeot te cm utm
of the witness's testimony. Ne N:'h. yn ordered out of
the place YW the hartender. o |
MR NOTT: Oh, 1 am talking atout the drug mm 25
There isn't any bhartender in the drug stores ' ;

i

BY MR ROTT:

Q mwunmuvmputortmdmm A t

inside of the drug store, 1 was goinc An; when the po
stopped ne. 1 was nina in teo tell the p¢nm
™R GOUR'.L‘: Ne. Never mind what you were godng

do.
MR GOTDMMITHI 1 ask to have it stricken out.
T™HE COUR',ﬁ Motien granted.
™R wxmsai And he pucshed me AWAYs
BY THRE COURT:
Q He wouldn't let you geo inte the drug stere? A !0.' sir.
BY MR NO‘H';
Q Now when did yeu see Smith atter that? A When did I
see Smith after that?
Q@ Yes. A In the Tombs,
Q Tow many days after? A It was two days after. .
Q@ And under what circunstances did veu see hin®? A 1 went
in there to indentify him,

Q Well, how many men were there? A - 1n the line?
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Q ru. A There was about fifteen mone

Q mmnmmauuottmmnm ‘ »mm
second floor, 1 think, Wy the cellss

Q@ In the corrider? A Yes, sirs

Q@ Vere they all lined up when you were hWrought in®
A Yes, sir.

Q@ And did you see Smith in the line? A Yes, M

Q@ And did you piek him out of that line? A Yes, M

Q@ Vere these parties that were in this line,were QM ﬂ
uniform or in citizen's clothes, or how? A Citisen's m

Q@ All in oitiazen's oclothes? A Yoa. ltl', p A :

Q How long had you seen Smith, ntuummmﬁ
this shooting when you say you sww him in there? A Oh, alout
ten migutes,

Q@ Vhat was he doing than? A Only walking up and m |
that is all, |

@ Through the place? A Yes, sir,
@ Did vou hear him give any orders te anybedy? A Yeos, 1

Q Vell, whe did he give them te? A To & wonman,
Q Vhe was in the place? A Yes, siry
THE COURT3
Gentlemen of the Jurys
Ve will take & recess now until a quarter past two

~

o'clock,
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JAMNES J. BRADY, umorouuu;aj.'
as roum; |
OROSS RXAMINATION BY MR GOLDGMITH) 57y
Q@ You said this merning that you were m M
Postal Telegreph Company? A Yes, sire '
@ WVhen did you go te work for ths ?QM
pamy? A On the Saturday before Onristmase = .
Q@ And what had you been doing hefore M 9 m Wl
Q Yes. A Well, I had been heme whout & mor ' _
Q@ Out of work? A Yes, sire ' - ' ;
Q@ And what did you do before that? A I worked in the
Postal Telegraph,
Q Why did you leave? How many times were you m
and re-emploved by the Postal Telegraph Ceompany? A Twives ‘ 5
Q Vere you discharged or did you leave? A ¥Neoj I laft “!
Q Now, when €id you leave the first time? A 1 think it g

was in Nay.

Q@ And then when did yoeu ge baok? A xwmmum,

Q@ PFrem May te Ooteber, what werw you doing? A I ﬂ.”
the country.

Q Where? A Asbury Park, .
Q@ What were you doing? A Wall, I have besn eut Shere far
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B Py,

my matila;
Q@ Where were you steopping? A 1 was stepping W@
in the hotel down there where I was working, the M m
Q@ What were vou doing in the hotel? Nell bey? A m

siry bell heoy.

@ Did vou work thers all that summer? A tm&&
months, and then 1 got robbed there. | |

Q Somehody rebbed yeu? A Yes, sire ; 4' :

Q@ And how mugh did they steal from you? A Thay o
from me. _ 2

Q And, because you were robbed you hﬁ t)u‘
A 1 had to leave, |

Q@ Why., A 3Because 1 was brought dewn te mumm .‘
as a witness,

Q What? A I was & witness down therse

Q@ You were taken to the ¥reehold Prisent A ﬁl‘ m.

Q@ And you were locked up, nron't you? A As a wﬂnﬂ g

yes,

Q@ As A witness? A Yes,

@ And how long were you inthe Preeheld Prisen? A Untild
October,

Q@ Two menths, you were in prisen? A 'oli.q nl. twe ;
months,

€ Just as A witnesa, eh? A Yes, lil‘-.
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Q@ And after you got out of the Freeheld Prisen, M m
you go? A 1 oame risht)mutomrork. .

Q And where was that? A 252 West 135rd Street,

Q And that was in October? A Yes, sir, :

Q And then you went te the Pestal Telegraph Company “ X

7y
asked for employment? A Yes, sire.

Q 1Is that correst? A Yas, sir.

Q 1s that right? A Yes, sir. ‘

Q@ And how long then did yvou work? A 1 worked, 1 m '
it was, up until November-~yes, about Novembear, ' :

Q You worked about a menth, didn't yeu? A '!hi.‘ti?;fﬁﬁfiJ
e about a menth,

Q And yoﬁ left then? A Yew, sir.

Q And then you didn'twork again until a ssuple of days
before Christmas? A I left until a couple of days defore
Christnas,

Q@ And what were you doing while you were out of worky
A 1 was home, with my fathera.

Q@ You didn't visit any eof these places along the Rewery,

L did you? A Yes, sir.

Q@ Pell Street? A Ne, sir,

Q Deoyers 8treet? A Neo, sir,

Q Ohinatown? A %o, sir,
Q

But you had been on the Bowery? A Yesy sire
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Q Now, where did yeu get that oollar that yom Mll ﬂlﬂ?

A Vhat?
Q@ You understand what I said? A 1 got it off my m,
o of course. ; .?_
Q When did yvou get 1%? A Well, 1 couldn's mm
you. i
Q Where did you get your collar? A I don't mmu
right to ask me that., And 1 didn't get nothing off mm
of Detention, |
Q How do you know what I wanted to ask you? |
A Well, it is enough to say that 1 did get it off the
: Q You didn't have a collar when you wers arrested, did
you?
A Yes.
Q Is that the collar?
A Yo, sir.
Q@ The necktie?
A Yesj no, sir. 1 didn't have ne necktie,
Q@ Pid you have & collar and necktis on, when you ware
W taken teo Rssex Market?

A Neo, nsir.
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Q And you knew that you will be pald
while you are theres} dem't you? A 1

Q@ Have you been promised mm
not, ‘ _

Q@ Yow you had been on the Beowsry htm
hadn't you? A Yes, sir,

Q How many times? A Twies, before thate St

Q And when was the first time? A Well, the ﬂmﬂ
was Menday night. |

Q@ Of that very week? A Of that very weeks

Q Had you been in No. 9 Bowery? A Ne, sirj I never
was there.

2 An‘youmorudoanbtmt“phl’.’“
A ¥o; sir,

Q #? A Neo, sir,

Q@ And what were you utucuﬂum.ﬁmw
night? What did you go down there fer? A nmﬁ-m

Q@ And vhen was the next time you went dewn thers?



A Teestay nto, Pt o
Q n-fmmnw.m-tuum \
A Yes, sir,
Q@ ALl aleme? A Ne, sirj with mm

Q@ Did this trouble happsn on a Tuesday night?
A '.. 'uo |

Q Vas MeGivern with you, on Tussday night?®

“ v

A Yes; sir, o
Q And had been with you, en the previeus sceasien?
A Yes, sir, 3

Q ¥ow how many times, in all, had you bees ¢ -

MoGivern? A I have been dow n twice with MeGivern.

Q On a Tuesday night? A Yes, sirj and on & Thursday

night,
Q@ MoGivern testified, this merning,; that it was the
first time that he had ever beenm down there. k ;
MR. NOTT: I ebject te that. He testified u\‘hl-
ing seen the woman, the night before.

MR, GOLDSMITH: Oh, yes, I withdraw that gquestien,

BY MR, GOLDSMITH3
Q New you had been in 23 Beowery onee befere this?
A Y..\ sir,

Q And you were put out, weren's you? A Yes, sir,
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Q@ By Mr. Suith? A Wey sir,
Q@ He ordered you out? A '.. abns
Q Any words with him? A We, sir. e
@ Worent you unseremeniously ojested fram the plaset
A Yo, sir, : g

Q@ On Monday night? A On Monday night?
@ Yes, A No, sir,

Q How leng were you in there, on Menday night? e

A Well, for about twe heurs, s

Q Where did you get the memey frem? A Weld, sm :
Q@ How muoh did you earn? A Oh, :mmu.
about $1,30. _ |

Q Did you spend any of it to sat? A Yasy Sire

Q How much? A Oh, about 60 gente of 86s

@ Do you usually usc about 60 gents for your dimner?
A Ohy ne, sir; net for my dimnner; for my thres meals &
day.

Q@ And you are pesitive that you were net thrown out
of there, on Monday night? A I am pesitive,

Q And on Tuesday night you went dowmn with MoGivern?
A Yes, eir,

Q@ And vhere did you meet MoGivern, did you say?
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A At 104th Street and Oelumbus Avenue. j
Q@ You were net working that dayj} were you? s  ,;_ * s
A Yes, sir, i 3  j’.Q g >
Q Did yeu have any money? A Ne, sir, net thl§f£::;z¥€;: 
Q En? A Yo, sir; not that night, e
Q@ well, MeGivern swore here, this morning, “
were not working. ' 'iw?i;wv _
WR. NOTT: He didn't say anything of the “,m
said he was not working with him, " (il e
A He wasn't working with me, I work in a
offige from what he did,
BY MR. GOLDSMITH:
Q wew, when you came down with MoGivern, 4id m”ﬂv

to got into Ne. 97 A Yes, sir,
Q Oh, you did? A Yes, sir, .
Q@ You did make an attempt to go inte Ne, 97 e

A Yes, sir, I said, *"We'll) go in," and’ he salq, ‘I\f‘

Q And vou were net allowed to go imn there; wers you?
A Fo, air,

Q@ You wer~ barred out of the plase? A Yes, sir,

Q Now, why did you say, a minute age, that you wars net
in Neo. 9, and didnet make any attempt te get in there? 34

A Beoause I wasn't in Ne, 9.



T e — o ot e e

.
- e a TSRO — s N —— -~
1 e W

nunbar of the plase. I didn‘d even know She
Bowery, until the officer told me that. |
Q Whe told you that? What offieer? 4
He took me down, umw.ulhnnmm.ﬁ
and the munber of the license, even.
Q@ The number of the license? A m,m
Q What is the nmwiber of the lisense? A ‘

cense for? A !oouumtuan
Q@ YNow, will you deseribe 0'Brien for m m

A Yes, sir.

Q Goen. A Well, he is a man about == Lot me sae ==
I should judge abeut B feot, 6 or 7 inchas, “Mﬂ’m
face, and kind of rough features.  That's the enly thimg
I could deacribe him,

Q@ The only way? A Yes, sir, And I ain't good at
that.

Q@ Now NoGivern was with you all this time, in this
place? A Bir? |

Q (Question repeated) A Yes, sirj .;l\n -m m
and then I want back again, ‘.
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@ Ilmow. I mean, he was with you? A Yes, sdrs
q.mmmnyum A Yesy sir; hu“l
saw. But he didnr ¢ uovhﬂtm.“tqou."

(-
the first time, i
Q@ No. I anm talking of the first times A m.um
he d4id then. o e
Q And he was right alongside of youw, &l the time?
A Yes, sir, e
Q And he heard what you heard? A Yes, sir; he heard
wvhat I heard,
- Q And sav what you saw? A Yes; sirj ql ﬂ&j t?”‘ :
saw,
Q@ When you were taken inte the Tombs, Tfor ths purpose
of identifying Mr, Smith -~ A Yes, sir, ‘
@ You were taken to the second tier of the Tembs
Prison; werent't you? A Yes, sirj I think I wasj m
Q Yes? A But, at that time, I dida't ook t0 see
what tier I was at,
Q well, it don't make any differences A Ne, sir}
v a8 long a8 I was in tha Towbs, I think its all righs,

Q@ And there were twelve, or thirtesn, or fourteen, or
fifteen nen standing in line? A Yes, sir, there was,
Q Did you netice hew Mr. Suith was dressed, in the
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Toabe? A You, sir,

Q Tell the Jury, A Ee had his soat off,

Q@ Yeo? A And he wae standing ~=

Q@ And his hat off? A And hia hat offy, And he ws
standing right up straight,

Q@ FHe had his cellar and tieen, didngt het?

A I dldn*t netice that partioular. I enly lesked for his
fase)} that's all, ‘

Q@ Omly Tor his face? A Yes; air,

Q D4 Shy ther men Nave sehiare and Siee sud
A Well, I oouldnet tall you.

Q Well, imi*t it a faot that he was the only man that
had a oollar and Sieen? A I didn't say that he had &
eodlar and tis en. |

Q@ You don*t even knew that} do you? A ¥Neo, sir,

CORNRLIUS Je« DONOVAYN, a witnesseslled on
behalf of the People, being duly sworn, testified as
followsy
DIRROT BXAMINATION BY MR, NOTTH
@ Heowy Mre. Denevan, I want you, please, %0 speak up,
because these last two gentlemen have got to hear yow, Just
as much as the Tiret twe, How old are you, sir?




A 30 years old.
Q How odd? A 30,
Q And what is your business? A Stenographer and Sypes
writer, : ;
Q Om the night of the 29th of Desember, 1904, were you
in the premises at 23 Bowery, or in the sarly m '
A Barly on Thursday morning ~~ I guess it was the M«w '
I can figure back. (Christmas was Sunday, the 25%h, m
was the 26th, Tuesday the 27th,  That would make Thureday,
the 29th, I believe I was, ¥
Q What time was it that you first went to these
premises, that night, I mean? A That night, about half u-t

seven o'clock,

Q@ In the evening? A ¢n the evening, yes; sir,

Q Hed you ever been in there bafore? A Yes, sir,

Q FHad :,rou' ever scen the defendant Smith there?
A Yes, sir,

Q Hew many times had you seen him there before?
A Well, I had been in there about six nights previous %o
that, every night, or preobably seven nights, and I had seen
the dafendant there, in the evening,

Q@ Seo you knew him by sight? A Yes, sir,

Q@ Well, when you wentin there, about half past seven,
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this night, did you sse him then? ‘-‘lﬂwu
that night, you saw him? A I think, mnmw-.m
night, that I saw him, %o place it right, was later in the
evening, when a wardman from Mdridge Stroet station mﬂ
thers, I helieve that was the first I had seen of llﬁ; “
night; probably a littls before, _ 7
Q@ And about what time was that, as Hear as yow eam
fix 187 A I should Judge, betwesn sleven and Balf past
eleven, | |
Q@ That night? A That eveningj yes, sir,
Q@ And d4id you knew the wardman’s name? |
A I found out, I think it is Leimeyer, ‘
Q@ And did you see him talking to Smith?

A Yas, air,

Q And heow long were they in conversation together?
A I only seen them in conversation Tor two or thres
seconds, and they went outside, went out of my view.

Q Had you seen any fight or disturbance in that plase,
wp te that time? A I had. .

Q What time did that occour? A That ocourred Jjust
right after Smith and Lehmeyer had a talks, They went out~
side, and the fight ccourred prebably five minutes after
that.
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Smith again?
A Imhlﬂtdt«tht.“tﬁw“

ten minutes. I sat down and talked with hhu A
Q@ Do you knew whether or not mﬁhﬂﬂm
preprictors of this plase?
MR, GOLDSMITH:1 oObjected to, a8 mn}w N
oonclusion of the witness,
MR, NOTT: GQuestion withdramm.

R

14 e 3
; ’C» __q_,,

Q@ What 414 you see Smith doing, during ‘“m '
that you wers there? -
MR, GOLDSMITHI Objected to, s lmmaterial, ir-
relevant and incempetent,

- .
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MR M‘f't Yes, w»ir, on previous Mﬂtl

there., 1 want to show Suith's relatisn to ﬁ

THR COURT mattnabwm

"“" MR WOTT: It may, on the mestion of mm
THR COURT: Oh, moj I do net think mes

BY MR NOTT;

Q Fow, what was the Tight that you saw

you saw Smith and Tohmeyer talking? e
MR GOLDSMITH; objected te, unless m “

the defendant, | e L

THE OOURﬁ Does it refer to this mw :

o MR NOTT: Yo, sir.
THR oovn'.ri Then how is it material?
MR NOT'H Why, as showing the charaster of the m
THE COURT: Nej 1 de not think that is materials
MR GOLDSMITH: And I ebjeot te that statement, if
your Honor please, of the Distriet Attamoy..
THE COURT:1 Ne, I do not think it weuld be material.
gY MR NOTT:
- Q@ Now you say vou saw Suith about ten mimutes after
this disturhance? A 1 did.
Q@ And was that still in thepremises? A Yes, sir.
Q Did you see A man named 0'Briem there? A 1 did.
Q VWVhen did you first see hin there? A First 1 had
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seen of 0'Brien was previous %o the disturhance td“ m |
Q And was he there during the disturbance? A sm |
Q@ And did you see him there afterwards? A IM
® | Q Now, after thu disturbance, 4id he M M 57 0

‘:; v STV

MR GOTMI‘MI! Objected te. 'nm‘ u ne e
here that there was any dutum

THE GOURT: O, yess Thers is evidence het ;-
was & shooting theres N R
MR GOLPS\ITH: But he is mot tm abent m' i
your Honer pleases The Distriet Attm “ ﬂ refer-
ence te that, Cica vl Caaiielin
MR WOTT{ Noj 1 haven't ceme te that vets 1 want te

[ -
looate 0'Brien during the evenings
MR GOTDSMITH3 Well, losate him, and don't insinuates
THR COURT: 1y will let yem lodate O'Brism, of
gourses m
MR NOTT: And I ask him if 0'Brien remained after the
disturbance that he speak es, or left, if the witness
knows,.
- BY THE COURT:

Q Can you anwwer the question? A Yes, sir.

Q@ Then anewver it? A 0'Brien left after the disturbance.’
BY MR NOTT:

Q@ And when did he return? A About fifteen or twenty

minutes or half an heur, probably.:
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Q@ Now, whore were you sitting them? A 1 wan m‘
one of the tables. jia A

Q@ In which part of the premisest A In the rear part of
the premises,

Q@ That is, up those steps (indieating)? A Yos, "“ :

Q And rRbout what part of the reom? A About ten M

the piane,
Q@ The piane is in the rear? A In the rear of the
Q@ Just take, will you plesse, mmd mark with the W 'D*
where the piano is on that plan? Leek at the plan, and Ta m

that you get your hearings right? A Yes, sirs
e MR NOﬂi He mAarks the rear 0orners
BY MR NOPT:
Q@ And vou say you were sitting about tan feet away from
the piane? A About ten feet) in front eof the pianes
Q@ In front of the pAane? A Yes, sir.
Q@ Down this way (illustrating)? A Yes, sire ' |
Q ‘vow, after yveu sat there, was your attention attracted
to any other disturbance, early in the morning? A It wase
- Q@ Abvut what time was that, as near as you ean place the
time? A 1 think about 11145 or 11:30, or prebably a little
later,
Q@ Well, you said the fTirast disturbangs took place shout

then, 1 am speaking now about the sscond ene? A The seoond 41



turbance toek place about twanty mimites or half a
the first disturbances gy e
Q Well, that is as mear as vou san ressllest it? A

is as near as ] can recolleet the u-. ;
Q Yow, tell this jury in your own m “?‘
heard? Al R
MR GOTDEMITH; Wave you fixed un. m ‘

THR COURT: I think, Mr mm, 1 m:

ut 1 will not let vyou show all the dis _
MR ma But this is the disturbance ﬂ*
THR OOURT; That is dirronnt;. The “m ;
says he refers to the shooting ouum g
MR GOIDSMITH: 1 understand, >
T™HR wr.m;ssi 1 oan't locate it in any 44
than that, at the time,

BY MR NOTTY
Q State what yeu saw and heard at that time? A I ﬂ»
O'Brien and the defendant standing in the rear of the h
or behind the partition, and I heard 0'3Arien say te the
dant~-- b
Q Yow what partition was that? A The partition m
above the fhroo step e
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Q That is, the partition nt the head of those W
(indicating)? A Yes, sir, !

A Yo, mir. 4

Q@ There is a way to pass it, an either side? i

it is & soreen, a wooden soreen.

Q@ Yow, at which side of the sereen nﬂ

was standing on this side of the Mlu.-_ ‘
the defandant was on the other sides b o ‘

@ Now, cenld you ear vhat they saiét A I heard
eall the defendant a steol pigeon, and 1 heard ih" ,

1 couldn't swear te what the comorutioa was, but 1 dist

renenber those words. ._..._._;?,
Q@ VYas there any woman there? A There wass ‘]
Q Where was she? A She was sitting at & table, about ﬁ*
Teet across from where 1 was.
Q Well, were there any other women there? A Thars were.
Q VWell, after these remarks were passed about steel
pigeon, did vou hear anthing then? A 1 heard ne m&&l
that is, that 1 can remember, There were some words Dassed -
but 1 den't knew what they were.

Q@ Then what happened? A Swnith went around ene side of
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the sereen, and the defendant went around ill. m of
screen. |

Q Bnith did what? A Guith went around en one uqu nf
the partition, and the defendant en the ﬁm ‘ ‘

Q@ The defendant? Well, Smith is the MM’ *
0'*Brien, 1 mean, PN R

'Q Well, then, what happened? A And I get up, M i
down to the end of that partitieon there (fi‘i‘ﬂ ‘ " .
were some words--and I esen the defendunt wlﬁ & gun in m {
hand, or & revolver, and he ordered 0'Brien sut, N ﬂm

didn't go out, and the defendant shot at hims
Q@ Where was O+'Brien st the time? A O'Brien was m
a few Teet away from the side ontrmoi‘ that is, the m
Q The door te the side hall? A Yesy sirs And the des
fendant was across en the sther side of ths reom, down m‘”; 'v
the steps, ,
@ That is, the mmall roem steps® A ves, sir, the small
room, ' |
BY THE COURT: ]
R You say 0'Briem refused to go out? A I den't know W
er he refused teo ge out] but he didn*t go outs g 3
Q He Aldn't ge out? A Ne, sirs

BY MR NOTT:

Q@ Then you say the defendant shet at him? A Yes, sirs



went behind the bar or nots o .
Q What were yvou doing? A 1 was standing, “m ‘
& girl theres | |
Q@ What was she doing there? A She wanted MM“H
see the shooting, and 1 was holding her dacks Wl
Q VWell, after the shooting, what 4id you de? A m *{
shooting, this gzirl punched at my eve, and I thought ﬂl
thing to deo was for me to get out of there, andy on the oﬂn;
side of the room there is another entrance, leading unum
Q@ To the hallway of the hotel? A Yes, simy and I wens
out there and sent in for my mrooaﬁ. As 1 was in that ene ,y
trange therey Snith and anether party were in M .
Q@ Who was the other party? A 1 don'® know the other
party's name.
BY THE COURT:
Q@ By Smith you mean the defendant? A Yes, sire
BY MR NOTT‘t
Q@ Do you knew what he is called in therey. that other party?
A Trilby, 1 think he is calledy
Q@ VWell, what was Smith and Trilhy doing? A Trilly had &
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gun in his hand, and the gartridges from the
ping it up, they fell out on the floor. |
Q@ Well, whe was taking the Mrldm out?. A M_

out in saapring up the gun,
@ But whe mmapped the gun? A Trilhy

that entrance th'ro. \

Q Out of which other entrance? A The other entrance that

leads into the hotels X
Q@ And what did you de? A 1 went dm the m “
1 went about--1 guess down te Mott amt. 1 think, if t_‘_ ace

it rightj and, as 1 was going down there 1 seen & P pa— |
runping up the street, and 1 followed him wp, and it led HW "

Nos 6 Bowery, tha drug store there. : ‘ \j e

1 went inte No. 6 Bowery and 1 seen O'Brisn sitting en ﬂ
chair, and several pelicemen around him, uﬂ 1 went over and |
talked to him, and he teld me he was M

THR COURTs: What he said, hn'n outs .

A (Contimied) And handed me & pecketbook, and 1 -m out
of there then,
BY MR nrm'i ,

Q@ And where did you go te then? A .1 went bhagk te the

saloon, 29 Boweryv.

QR R9Y A Yes, ol r.
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BY THR COURTS : ‘ é |
Q@ % ores A eezhs G i e

BY MR NOTT:

€ You mean the sameplace where you were before? A

sirs
Q Smith's place? A Yes, sirj Suith & Puchaname
Q And what was the state .:munmmmm

£
%

PR R e

there? A The doors were closed, and the plase was in m
ness; except the barreemy I believe there s & light in N
barroems '
@ Did you go inside? A And I went l-ltl“l»
Q And whe was inside there? A Mmthm
and one girl, and a coupls of eother fellowss

e,
Rl A 3

Q@ VWere there any officers there then? A 1 uu&u two
officers onne in as 1 cane in the doors ‘, s

Q Well; what did they de? A They just leoked sround the
place and went outs .

Q@ And then where did you ge? A From there 1 went %
Eldridge Street station house~-ne, 1 first went te Rudsen
Street Hospitals

QR Vell-= A 1 had heard that 0'Brien was brought te
the Midson Street Hospital,

Q And was he there? A He wamn®t theres

Q@ And then you went te Eldridge Street? A 1 want te £
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@ And whe did you see there? A I sesn Detestive |

1 think his name wu. s |
Q And did you have any conversation with him? A I ¢

Q@ Did you see anybedy else there? A He .
Detective Lohmever. g
Q Well, 414 you see Lohmever? A I seen m m

Q@ Vas he the same detestive you had seen in ﬂw v ‘
place? A Yes, sir. ﬂ{ :
R Did you have any cenversatien with him? A !“W |
Only started to talk to him, and he told me to get eute | |
Q Well, vhen he told you te get out, had you sald amye
thing te Wim about this case? A Net to hime But I hed to his
partner, and his partner had told hime
MR GOLDGMITH: ‘Odjected te as & conelusien of the wite

ness.
BY 1R NoOTTy
- Q@ Well, did you hear his partner tell hin? A } ‘1& y
1 heard his partner tell him, talk %o him, L
Q@ And then, when you started to talk teo him he #eld l" Q,
get out? A Yes, sir. W
Q Now, ‘An what ceeupatien were you engaged, at that M :



A Aﬂmw-xunn-hrmm i
l, What were you dodng? A !mwh s
a hq for a private partys | »
R nu,mztumormmm“?*
mmmntuanm A T, xmnum“f
nm 1 had went to several plases there leeking for him
/[ @ Well, aleng in that nieghberheed? A mna‘ |
| borhoods I Ned been An all the pleses theres
| lurnmrhdwtmmﬂﬁﬂﬁtm*h
R 21d/sou ever kmew 0'Srien before this? A u.m
!!rllm‘!ll :
Q What are yeu; a private detestivet A lb.d&v
Q,/ Who was the man you were hunting fer? A Why; ryem
wouldn's, know him, 4f 1 teld you whe he wass
R I wouldn'$? A e, sir.
Q, Well, I den't know whe you were hunting fers I wani
hﬂunt?
,/' A Well, 1 don't think that is material te the Ganes
Q Well, J\ut tell us whe you were hunting fer?
-y MR NOTT: Well, I den't ses that that is materiads
/1 ebjeot.
, THR GOURT: 1 do not sse that it is materiale
piinoomanrm
- R Whe was the party whe empleoyed yeu te hunt him uwpt
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not what yvou would e¢all deteative work. :
Q@ Then vhat was the purrose of looking

te locste the nman,
Q For vhat? A I don't ses that that a"“

purpose the narty wanted to locate ﬂ“

Q@ Yow, aint that a conceeted lt,m mm

ne congected story at all,

Q@ What nawe were vou under in 8"&0‘! :

Je Donovan,
€& Tor how long? A TWor two yearss

What for? A Yergery.
Whean? (No answer)

When? A PFrem 190l-=ne, from 1902 teo 1904,

e o o0 S

Where? A In Allsghany , Pennsylvaniae



Q@ And when did you get out? A on Desedher |
Q And is that the snly time yeu sver were i5 §
that you sver served a ter? A In Allegheny? v
Q@ Yo. I am talking about States Prisen, Sing 8 ity
A I don't see that that is material, e
THE OOURT: Yes, that §s materisd i bk
THR WITNESS: Well, I was in States Prisems
BY MR, GOLDSNITH: |
Q@ For how long? A Tws years:
Q What for? A Pergerys
Q Whem was thet? A 1696 or 3808) I don's

the year,
Q@ That is, twe? A Yes, sir,
Q@ Any ethers? A No, sir, ’
Q@ You deurt think these are material te this sase} &
you? A I de net. :
@ WVeren't you in wuv A Yoy, #ir.
§@ You esoaped that?
¥R, NOTT: Now, I object to that questieon, Af your
Henor please.
BY MR, GOLDSMITH)
Q You escaped being sent to Hlumira; didn't you?
A No, sir,

MR, NOTT: I object te that, We have all ssoaped
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that, I never was there, |
MR, GOLDSMITH: Well, you are fortunate. ‘
BY MR, OOLDSMITH: e
Q@ You know Smith} den't you? A I dey
Q@ Did you ever talk to Snith deut this oase?
A Yo, sir, : :
Q FHave you commmieated with Smith sbowt thie u.u
A Neo, sir, |
Q@ Did you ever communicate with anybedy ¢ lse?
A Idld,

Q@ Leok at this paper, unlmuuuh:ﬁ
writing (indicating)? A It is.
MR, GOLDSMITH: I offer it in evidence,
HR» NOTTt May I see it, ummm
MR, GOLDGMITH: Certainly. Hers it iss
(It is admitted in evidence without ebjestion, and =
marked Defendant's Exhibit A)e |
BY MR, GOLDSBMITHS
Q@ Who did you commmicate with? A A party by the
name of Ryan,.
Q@ Who is Ryan? A He is a party that I met down i
one of the Bowery reserts. '
Q@ And when did you meet him? A About twe weeks m
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befors Ghristmas; betwesn Dosesber T4h and
@ About the time Shat you were
Allegheny State Prisen? A Yes, sir,
Q@ And where didyou meet him? A x—tthim
Q Where is that? A I dentt know the musher o
@ What street is it en? A uu-uui
G You know what street it 4s en? A I oan's ple
or it is Deyer or Pell; I cantt place the 4if
€ Well, it was on either ome of thes? A m,m
on either ena or the sther, g
Q. And he is & friend of yours? A Nes o
Q He is net? A Neo, he is noty ¥ ”
Q@ What is Ryan's first name? A Mishael. !
Q Where did you address him 407 A T0 & party by the
anme of Mdling, in Mot Strests o
Q@ Yess When did he give you that address?
A T demst know when he give me the addresss T met him is
—  nt e s 2 e
Q And you thought s letter thers would ressh
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| A T thought & Jet¥eF weuld ressh him, xm

- friend; merely an ssquaintance of mine,
Q mmt'nmmrummu
A Yes, sirj u')nrnh'.
MR. GOLDEMITH: xmmmmﬁ
(Mr. Goldsuith ronds the exhibis o
qQ You sent thu.httar? A X MM-.

A I wanted %o ucthchfuﬂut.h”l!ﬂ;
tired of being up there,
Q@ Where? A Nanuet,.
Q Where is that? A xnmﬂnmdm&lh
huudmwtytmuatuvnh,mw- '
Q@ What party? A Mr, Hammend,
Q And were you at his house? A Yes; sir,
Q@ Living thers? A Living there.
Q@ And theonly day you ocould see mu-muufg‘
. a Thursdayj 4is that right? A on a Menday.
Q@ That was the day when you were not watched?
A Yes, sir, )
Q You mean Mr. Hammond, the Ghief of the Presess Servers
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upstairs? A I des
Q@ And anybedy else wp thers with you,
mond? A Yes, sir,

@ Whe? A Mr, Roberts.

@ Another County Detective? A Yes, M

Q@ Anyhody else? A No, sir,

@ ¥ow, did they have a whole house? A
fanily, | ~
Q@ Whose family? A Mry Hewmend's femilys

Q Mry Hammend's family? A Yes; siry

Q@ How long were yeu up in Nanuet? nm"

Q mm«o‘ummmmumﬁﬂ-
frem? A xmmmuwm.:mm:unh
nygrt’.orx-ymnthhthm |

Q@ And you mailed it on the 7th of February, as the
stamp shows? A About that time,

§ And what did you want te see Smith for?

A I was -~ I was tired of belng up there, and I wanted %o
see Smith, and arrange not to appear against him, Af I coulds
I didn't want te appear against Smith,

Q What arrangements did you want to make with -mc
A The arrangements was that I wouldn't appear agalnst hime
Q@ Por a consideration? A Ne, sire



Q What 4id you mean by this, *That may seem
A I thought um—nynwunuuum'ﬂ'
Smith know that I was & witness against him. D
Q But you were wup there for five weeks;, before you 5
came to have that frame of mind? A Yes, sir.
@ And it was on your affidavit MM“”

rested? A It was on my affidavit tiat he 'l.

Q And didn't you say that you wers .m.uh A
time? A Not in the affida‘it; ne, sir,

Q Did you make the statement towﬂMﬂm
a reporter? A Yes, sir, '

& To whom? A To several policemen,

Q@ WVere you a reporter® A Mors or 1e8s) Jyous

Q What paper did you report for? A A% “M‘
wasn't deing any reportings I had reported for The Bvening
World and The World, |

Q@ Had you done any reporting work for the twe years
previous to that? A Neo, net in New York,

Q@ Or any other place? A I had,

Q Where? A I done a little reperting work ia
Allegheny.

Q@ In the prisen? A Ne, sirj} eutaide of the M
I was in the prisen twe years -~ at least, I wasn's there tw9

P e
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@ But you teld us you were there mm
months I was there. } 7
Q@ You were there twenty menths? A Yes, sir. .
Q@ And for whom did you werk? A T beldeve I rep
a speech, down there, ‘ |
Q xan'tmtmtmwmm t:‘ ,
abselute fasts A I eantt say for surey but 1 w&:w
speseh for ene of the newspapers there. ;
Q@ What speech did you repert? A Mﬂoﬂ
speech making; at a dinner, iy
Q Wat disner? A I eantt anastly ressll mew, 4% 80
s0 far awayy .
Q@ Way, 1t must have been in Neveuber? A Twe years

agos. ,
Q Yes? A Let me see. :mmmmwm
It was in April,’
Q@ What year? A I believe; of 1908.
Q And when were you sent to prisent A In June. 5o
Q uy.umuonmmmmmqm"
menths previous te that? A mm; off and on, tm'
in Allegheny and out of Allegheny. B
Q ud.MyuMMhMo m-lnﬁ
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A In Chisage and in Buffale. e

Q@ Whatdd you do in Chieage? A I worked a8 &

Q@ Por what court, or for whem? A The fimm of WRdten,
James & Yord,

Q And were you employed by the week, er hew?
A By the week, and by the plese, e

Q@ Were you esplayed by a law firm? A Ne, sirj w;
firm of court reperters, There are ne officisl reperts $n
Chioago.

Q@ There are none? A No, sir, s

Q@ And how long ware you in Chicage? A About eight
months, I think, off and en, altegether,

Q And that was right after you same sut of State
Prisent A Oh, ne, I was in ¥eow York far & year sid &
half, prebadbly, after I came out of State Prisem.

Q Now tell us the name of theman that delivered the
speech in Allegheny that ysu reperted? A I ean't remesber
the name, but I remexber it was on the cceasien of a dinner,

Q And whe did you report that spesch for?f A I beliewm
I reported that for the Pittaburg Times,

Q@ In Allegheny? A Yes, sir, In Pittsburg, Just seres
the river,
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A Neo, sir, Citioin e L)
@ Or the name of the man whose spesch you

A Weo, sir,

Q@ And you demit kmew anybedy en the Pittsburg Tines,
de you? A YNot dy name, I got my pay frem the der!
offics, I've done work on newspapers here, and \ now
the people's nanes, o

Q ow, the oashisr's office of the Pittsburg Times 48
in Pitteburg? A Yes, sir, gl
right acress the river, 1ike Srookiym and New Yoris e

Q@ How much 4id you get for this work? A I thiank I
got §7 or $8.

Q And how much space 4id it sakewp? A Abeut three
quarters of a colum, ImW“WN“
part of it, the shorthand work, and I charged $10 » night
for the spesch reperting, the sane as I have done in yow York,
for The New York Wordd,

RE-DIRBOT BXAMINATION BY MR, NOTT:
Q Were you detained as a witness, after this shoetiagt

A I was,
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Q And, instead of boing sent 4o the Houss of J
you were taken out of tom? A I ".. ST
Q@ And kept up there, at this place? A Yea, Qﬁj&jﬁ:
Q@ You say that you got siok of being there? 3
A Yes, sir,
country placs, There is no one there,
Q Well, why didn’t you want to appear wa m |
defendant? A Vell, I'1l tell you why T didn't want %
appear against him, I was afraid I would get mu
trouble, Tha [f! 1{}
Q Did you know anything about 0'Brien? A b bn 7
that O'Brien had appeared as a witness against a pelicemans

ik

LOUIS G KREUT ZBR, .ummmm“
of the People, being duly sworn, testified as rm
DIRBCT RXAMINATION BY iMRe NOTTS
Q@ You are a member of the Municipal Pelice Foree?
A Yes, sir,
Q@ What Precinct are you attached te? A Twelfth, Hid=
ridge Street,
Q@ And to what precinet were you attached, dﬁrm the

mnonth of pecember? A Twelfth,
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A vYes,; sir,

- Q And ever since? A Yes,; sir, » o
Q And are the premises 23 Bowery in ﬁ m

A Yes, sir. 5
Q The dividing line between the A3th and m

? comes in the middle of the Bowery? A nm 7

the Boweryj} yes, sir,
| Q@ What was your pest on Degember 208h?
| A I believe I had two posts thers, |
Q vwow what was your pest? Don't you know w
A wy post was Noj 1
Q What did that cover? A PFrom Division to Canal
Street, on the Boweryd | |
Q On the Bowery? A Yes, sirj and I take in W‘
the block of each side street,’ | 7
Q@ And how long had you been en that pest?
A About a year.'
Q Do you know this defendant? A I have seen hime
Q You know him by sight? A Yes, sir.
Q And de you know where his premises are? A At 23
Bowery.

Q De you know where he was, before he came %o thoss
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premises?

MR, GOLDSMITH! Objected to, as
- vant and incompetent, and not having any
. the subjeoct matter embraced in this  tman
THR COURT! I do not ses that i8 is very
where ha was,
MRy NOTT: It may become materials ‘
that he was empleyed in snother plase Yery o)
there. ; ,
TR COURTI Wall, this case has narvewsd de
a very small ocempassy The questisn u.m
mant If he did net, ne orime has heen semditte
great deal that you have outlined in mmk“
opening/ I do net see the bearing ofy :
MRy NOTTY I am awars, of course, m M
there is direct evidente of & sheoting, M M&n ﬁ
not essential} bdut it may be material and

Just the saney
THE COURT: Welly, we will sea, Aater ons wﬂ
get what we oall the ast iteelf in evidense; and m
on oross examination, they may wndertake te find mm
metive there was for shoeoting the mang {
BY MR » NOTT)
Q Do you knew whe thepreprieters are, at 23 Bewery?
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A mth & Buchanan, I balieve,
MRy GOLDSMITH: I meve that be strisken uu ju
i irresponsive, ,
~ THR COURT! Well, I de net think umﬂ
or the other, xvm.nnuumh.w_
not see itsbearing on the oase, | _ |
MR GOLDEMITH; I uu-auunmum
ruling« Ly
BY MRy NOTTY .
Q You have been on that pess you say li ok
yoort A Yes sire s
Q@ At various times of the day and night? A Iwﬂ
night} yes, sir.
Q@ And are the pramises 23 Bewery a saloen? A m”
a hotel, I believe,
Q@ It is commenly known as a Raines Law Hotel?
MRy GOLDSMITHY Objected tow
A I donrt know about that,
MR, GOLDEMITH: I object te that, and ask that the

question be excluded,
THE COURT: I do not think it has any bearing en
the case.
BY MRe NOTTY
Q New, have you ever made an arrest in there?
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time were you on post, en duty, nmmuw ’
of Degenber 29th? A PFrom 18, at night, wntil 8, Uﬂ
morning} the late tour,

Q uﬁutm.aummmmm
A Noy siry, _

Q@ Vhat? A Yes, sir; after, lmiﬁ.

] MNMMWM‘”M‘
A In the drug stere, Ne. 6 Bewery, \

Q And what time was it that you Piret mw him there?
A BSomawheres areound 4 ¢'cleck,

Q mm the meraing? A Yesy sirg

R You denyt know of your own knowledge hew leng he
nad been there? A wyoj that I couldn®$ say:

Q Hew leng prier to that time was 4% that you had passed
the premises wou 23 Bowary? A Vell; I passed wp and dowm
line there, all mnight} about onrynulﬂw ,

Q@ Did you pass there after one ofeleck? A pn‘ M‘dl
night, from 13 o'eleck wntil merningé




Q Armuacmummmﬂﬁh
there? A lo.llr.

Q Or oceming out? A Ne,; sir, _

Q Was the bar reem 1it wp? A Yes, siry, and the bar
exposad,

qnuynluWyhmﬂmﬂm
A Yo, sir, |

Q@ Not a soud? A No, siry

Quamsmmxmmmm
A That I ocouldn't sayy I couldn't ses in Shere, |

Q Couldn®t you see, if thers had been & light Shere?
A VWell, I oouddn't swear te thaty | f

Q@ What? Did you look te ses? A Yes, I locked.

§@ But you dldn't see any? A Ne, sing ‘

q You didn*t ses any persons passing in or out of this
Place? A Neoy sirj neither in or ouls

Q Well, did you leok to ses? A Well, when I passed
there, I could see any ene ge in or outy .

Q@ You were lecking to see If any viclations of law were
conmitted there? A Yes; siryg ;

Q@ Did you hear any piane geing there? A I didn*t hear
anye

Q Did you listen? A Well, I didn®t liptensy I dlduts
stop there,




MRa GOLDSMITH: Objeeted to, mun"
that Suith had been in the place, or had
managed the place,

BY MR, NOTTY

Q@ And did you have sny talkwith hin? A § ssked him ++
MR, GOLBSMITH: Objeated to, | :
BY MRy NOTTI

Q Yo xauummumnm_
you have a talk with hiw? m«m A W“N

Q m,;mrmtm.mtmmwl :m
an ambulanoe,

Q Did you ses the zubulanece geme? A Yes, sir,

] m:«mwmuq-tmmm
or notice anything abeut him? A Well, I leoked st him and
asked him ==

Q And what did you see? A He was shot, and he sald <

THE QOURT: Ney 40 net give the conversatien,
BY THE COURTY

Q@ What did you see vuhymmw ~ tnlit

3ittle blood en his sh ;
BY MR, NOTT3
Q@ On what part of the shirt? A mm~

navel,
q mmo in his shirs? A Ausmu.o.

Q mwmtmsmm‘\m
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Q After the mwhulance omne aud 1t ‘*

sir.

\mlm« cane.
Q Yu'. 1 say, what 4id you do, after ﬂn -

him away? A 1 went eover to 23 Bowery,
Q Now, how did yeu come %o go to 23

THR COURT» Yes, Strike it m o
RY THR COURTS

Q@ You went te 23 Bowery to see M‘Gﬂn
sirj te see whether anything ocourred in M
BY MR NOTTy | o
Q@ When you got there, was there Wiﬂﬁ
A Three men,in the baek roem. e
Q Anyhedy in the front of the premises? A MM

officer.

Q@ What wes he doing when you got there? A Well,
in particular, but just leokingout for £h place, beosuss ..
heard somebody had beem shot in thores. i

MR GOLDEMITH: 1 ebjeot te that and ask that it be o
en out,

THE COURT: Moetien granted,
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A Yo, #irs
Q What did you do when yeu got w
and placed the three menes
Q nuuvonosohuunuﬁw
three officers come in with me,

there, up to that time.
Q The first time? A Yes, siry
Q Mmhnbmmtmwt
Q wow, muwutpmortmmaﬁ

went inte the rears

@ And whe did you find in there? A Three men in
Springer, MNMenchan and Kelly.
@ Did you find the defendant there? A ¥ , m

Q And Aid you find him there? A Ne, sirs |
Q You say you went in through the bar? Hew m” |
in theret A 1 went in through the hajle
Q Threugh this private hall eor the hetel hall® A& :
private hall, the hall en the sidd, net the I’m ‘
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A That's all,
@ Did you go upstairs? A Ne, Ll e

@ Weren't you looking for Snith? AM
wam't in theres S0
Q Yutmmtrmﬂl’"‘“l‘“m
muommnr mxmmum

Pleases
BY MR NOTTs
Q@ Did you ge upstairs, or make any M
part of the premises® A Ne, sirs
Q@ Did you place these thmplftlum
A Yas, sire
Q And where 4id yeu take them to? A um
Q@ Te the station house? A Teo the station hl‘“
Q After that did you msee 0'SErien anywheres A 1 M
see 0'Brien after he went te the hospitals .
Q Fad you ever seen him before? A Ne, sAr, noh te my
imewledge. I seen him around there Wt 1 Aidn's knew him a8
0'Brien,



Q mmmmmnhﬂ
nomm annﬁn

the indictments
TI® COURTy How is it materials |

MR m'm'l Well, just on that M

we have spoken of bhefores

TR COURT: 3 think netj 1 wnl‘mw‘f“’;ﬁ;
BY MR o 3
Q@ Did vou go back to thoss premises ngain
you made these arrests? A ¥Neo, sir, The mtu
were senteut on that again, | |
Q@ Do you knowwheR thoss three parties wers
those premises, 1f st all? A Only frem their b

CROSS RXAMIWATION: None,

JOHN As YOUNG, &witness onlled on behalf of the
defendant, being duly sworn, testified as w.m 7
DIRECT RXAMIYVATION BY MR WOT?I
Q Officer, vou are a mamber of the Munoipal Peliecs
A Yes, w®ir, :
Q@ And you were in the menth of December, 15047 A “
sire :
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@ Did you go te the premises No, 6 Bowery en tha
A On that mormings *

3130, 1 guass, in the morning. S N
Q@ As near as you oan place the time? A mm »
@ Who did vou find there? A I found Nilly O'Arien there,
with a pistel shet wound in his stomagh, sitting en 'S _
A Did you look nt the wound? A Yes, stre |
Q@ Whare was 189 A Jush about in here (indiestingle f‘
Q Just about the navel? A Yes, sire g
Q@ Add you say it was & pistel shet wound?® ‘3‘
that waya : o
Q@ Vell, a nole and bloods A Yes, sir, ‘
q ’nu veu hive & nonversation with him® X don't ask yeu
whot 1t wass DAd he alk to you? A Yes, siry I speke te him |
Q Did vou sse what wae @one with nim® A I see he was

taken in the ambulanece and sent te the hospitals

Q Vhat hespital? A The Fudson Street hospitaly the New
York Hospital in Judseh Streets

@ Did you ebsorve 0'Brien's conditieon as te sobrdety?
A Well, he looked te me te be pretty sebegs Of course, & nan
in that gonditions-

NR GORDSNITH: 1 ebjeet to that, and ask that the anps

wer be stricken out,
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TR 0OUTS New I will allew thed,
to be seber or nets
BY MR WOTTy
Q Did yeu go over te the prenises; ﬂw il
mmsmn: No questions,

of the People, being “l’ sveith Sodt “
DINRCT RXAMINATION BY MR WOTTS

Q You are a member of the Munieipal Pelice Forse? A

sire : o
Q@ And were you & mamber of that fornes #n ﬁn”‘ |
Decenber, 19047 A Yomy sim g
Q D44 you go te the drug store, Ney 6 Bewery? A Yemy

sirs

Q@ At what time was it when yeu went there? A Between
three and four o¢'evleck in the meornings

= ol

Q@ Whe did you Tind there? A 1 found & man by She naaess
1 think it was O"Brieny |

Q@ Had you ever seen him before? A Noy sirj never see
him bYeforeas

Q Whe else did you find there? A Well, thore was seversd
pelicemen therey There was Roundswan Horan and Officer Young e
and Officer Melntyreg and two or three citisenss



q mmmmmmm
& mn-onuuusohmadunw
Q Nos ,Mrmmmm

and found he was shet in tho M

Q And then did yem hu'n any
asked him whe shet him,

Q Ne. Nmurlwnmt it wass
BY TR mnm

Q Did you have any Mm m"
what it M A Yn, #sirs <
BY MR NOTTI

Q You did? A Yes; sir.

Q@ And what did you de after this tﬂﬂ’
BY THE COURT3 ey

Q@ What did you de? A Well, we went mam
store across the street te No. 23 Bowerys L

BY MR NOTT3 ,
Q Yes. And who is we? A Officer Kreutzer, 1
is, of the 13th Precinect.

R And yourself? A Yes, sir. And then we were
by the Roundsman, & little later. 4 |
Q@ Now, when you got te 23 Bowery, what was the
of those premises, & that time? A The place way m §
closed? |



rﬂ;‘,“ N e s -

] nmnuw.ummmw“»
was & light in the bYarreom. ,
Q@ Could you see inte the dbarreem fren ﬁb
A Yes, sir. b
Q@ And did you go inside or renmain ntuﬂ
went inside of the doereeright inside of the
Q Yes, numamwmnm
went inside of the deorwaye 4
Q I know that? A Roundsman Hormn wul ok, 1
Q Duyummr;lnbdm' A h,
inside of the deor of the harreomy

think he is & walter-~the bartender, and & Mh M
was & piune players |
Q And what did you de with thoss pmm A
Kreutzar placed them under arrest, 1 believe, and ' x
te the 12th Precinet station heonuses
Q@ And hew was the hartender dressed? A The .
1 guess he was in his short sleevess 1 believe he had his M
slseves rolled up, ;
Q@ And the piane plaver? A He hade=] think he had his
¢oat and hat en,.
Q@ Vell, this was after four o'cloak by that time¥
A Yes, sirj somewhares around there.
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Q And the piane plaver wes still there? A
Q@ Yes? A And he mid he wan the m
THE COU-t Noo Strike that m
MR cmmnm I ask te have that
m ml Yes.
BY MR m:
@ Now, did you go upstairs? A ¥No, sl
Q Did you ses any of the officers ge ups
siry 1 414n's see anybody o wpstairs, They migh
upstairs,
Q Did you we the defendant, Suith Shered .
Smith (indicating the defendant)?
Q Yess A No, mirj 1 dida'ty
Q Did yew make any inquiried for Smith?
MR GOTPSIATHI 1 ehjest te that, if yeur m'
MR NOTT: 1 want te show that smm‘m
him, or were alleged to be leecking Tor him,
THR COURT; Alleweds |

MR GOLDSMITH: Rxeeptiony
A Well, 1 didn's,
BY MR NOTTy
Q@ Vell, did yeu hear any of the othar officers “
ries for the defendant, Gmith?



BY #R WOTTY

MR GOTDSMITH:
™m Oomih 1 do not see th it ll
MR NOTT: wWithd rmm.

BY MR NOTT:

Precinct station house with these prisonerss
Q With these rrisoners? A ves, sirs

Q And then vou went hack on postf A

CROSS F:XAMIWATION; Hones
wfx.f,r,xun 0O' BRI®N, n-rzmwnud
the People, being duly mnm. .ﬂmtiﬂ“ M
DIRECT RXAINATION BY MR NOTT:
to say in & voice loud enough for this jury %o hear M
MR GOTDSMITHY 1 ebject to that 1nJanoM'.m_,jh‘ tho
nessy what he sees Tit to say,
THE COURTS Well, he will only ansver qastionss
MR GOTOSMATHE Ves, siry he will only answer mfpm"i

that are puty, I helieve,

Q How old are you? A Thirty=~rive,
Q What is your egoupation? A Wirenmn,

0 Tomn hiave heen conviected of arime herstofors?



A Yes, mire
Q@ More than once?

A Yeny sir,

@ Do you know « woman nanved Sadle Banis?

A Yesn, sir, o

Q@ De you knew whether or not she was that m
broughtin here & ceuple of timew? | ey

A Well, I didn't see her brought ims

Well, she was out in the hall?

Q
A Yesy, wmir. ;
Q How long have you lmewn her? L5 |
MR oor.nm'mi oﬁnto‘ s as muuu.
TR COURT: Weil, 1 will allew ite
MR oomwu'rxi Exceptions
A Vell, 1 sm~1 knew her between twe and & half and thy
years) semething like that,
@ Do rou knew a young man named Brennan?
A Yen, sirj 1 4id know him,
Q@ Yes,s Were you present when he was shot?
MR oommn'm; Objected t.;
THR 00URT§ Yess 1 sxelude it, unless it was on

this cccasien,



MR GOLDSMITH: One moments 1

| TR COURT: 1 think I Xnow whet yeu
but 1 think I will exclude 1%, I will :
in this cases It is & sinple case, .
: MR NOTTI Well, it is simple g.....
i the other. i



Justified in doing iN?
BY MR, NOTT:

o ember,; 19047

MR, GOLDSKITH: Objected te,

THE COVRT: I will let that questien be

dees he remewber that day, '

A Well, tell me something that eseurred that m

I will remesher, I don't remember the 'iiw;h

semething that ccourred, and I may remesber.
BY THE COURT:

] !nhnnumdlnuudmmmw
day? A ¥o, sir, net at present] net until he nﬁ nw‘
t hing about that ‘day.
BY MR, NOTT: ‘

Q Now, do yumﬂcrhomsﬁmu_ﬂ”m
that eccurred on that day, in December?

MR, GOLDSMITH: Objected te.

THE COURT: I will net =k ge inte any other
mattor than the partioular subject master of this inw
digtment, It could net have any bearing en the sade,

RN 2 A s i e - P A — b, —— Gl 2



RIS T g 2 WISy -
r-' i s 3 v a g v - i ~——
i g i) - -

'

exoept, possibly, on the questien of motivey ®
not obliged to prove motive. iy Fren
Q Prier to the 9th day of pecembar, 1904, umm
had any trouble with the defendamt? A We, siry W
Q Do yeu remenber the night ef the 29th of Desanbe
A The 29th? oAk
Q@ Yes, Do you remerber the night you got m
A Well, I dom't remenber the day, but as far as um
bagk -= |
BY THE COURT: T
Q@ You remember the cccurrence? A Yes, sirj l
the ecourrenss,
BY MR. NOTT:
Q@ Well, you were only shot once, in the month of o
Degember? A That's all. e
Q Y¥ew, had you been drinking, that aight? | T ‘,
MR, GOLDSMITH: Objected to as immaterial, m
and inocompetent, i
A

MRe NOTT: I think that 1is very material.

exanination, better than on the direct.
BY MR, NOTT: o
Q Where were you shet? What part of your anatemy?

o Rt 34
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q nntmnmw'tnmuﬁ 5

n around here (indlesting),

@ Have you got the sear there yet? A Nolﬁy
MR, WOTTY m.xwmumwlﬂn
MR, GOLDMITHY xowmuit.q

sxhibition. .
THE COURT} Rmnu.‘oﬂ.thﬂ“
MR, GOLDSMITHY Yes, sir, u-mm.du

hppohnm-;'o.

THE GOURTS Well, he cencedes i%.

MRe GOLDEMITH mmuﬂ”ﬁfﬂ
shot. Mummﬂ

MB. NOTT: Well, dentt shout) x'-mw.m

o

sver I want. i»s

BY THE COURTS

R You wers shet right below the navel? A Ne, sif,
About thers, dewn abeut the £ifth rid (indieatingds
BY MB, NOTTY

LW ' ; l'
Q@ And where were you taken, mormmm

Q No. 6 Bowery? A Yes, sir, s



S—_

Aiving in the Borough d' Manhattan? A Yes, t

Q And where were you taken from there?
Q De you remenber any of the dostors that
Dr. Tandes, for instance? A Yes, sir,
Q And hew long were you in thoh-mg
from this wound? A I think, 19er 20 dayes I
remember right, 19 or 20 days.”

in Breoklyn.
MR. COLDSMITH: Is that all?
MRe NOTT: That is alls !

»

OROSS EXAMINATION RY MR, GOLDSMITH: |
Q You recellect the night that you had this trowhle,
don't you, O'Brien? A I de. ' o

.

=

Q@ You san't forget it, can yeu, very well?
A (No anewer)
Q@ Do you knew who shet you? | W
MR, NOTT: Now, Af your Hemer please; I M“ s ‘
te make the remark, that I havenst gone inte thisy

o i AN
that he makes him his own witness, and that I have the’
right te cross examine,

"ne



m‘

THR COURT: I will allew 1%,
BY THE COURTS
Q Counsel asks you who shot you? A nu.,l,
rouble that utcm,mx--
MR, NOTT: Now you have mun
objeot teo anything further,
BY THE COURTS e
Q Now who shot you? A Well, the party that I &
MR, NOTT! No, I objects .
BY THE COURT}

‘@ ¥ow who shot you? A Tothe best of my
I dddnet see it |
BY MR, GOLDSMITH;

Q Was it the defendant? A No, sire

@ Did you have some trouble, that Mﬂ
A Yes, sirs

Q Where did you have the trouble? A omc
Canal and Bowerys

Q@ Now were you shot there, or en the sidewalk?
A In front of 17 Bowery, I wen't say in frent of 29



and I walked u an elevator post, and I 14Tted up I
and seen a wm there.
BY THE COURTS }

Q Well, but you haven't told us yet who M
A VWell, positively I dldnt't see no man dlm m.

asouses the party that mot M8y
Q non'tycuknnmo shot m? A m, m..

you? A_ No, sirs Probably it was the man in M

but 1 hnvm-t seen no man in front of me,
Q You say positively, under your oath, that you a-m

know who she$ you? A I haven:% seen nohedy in front

.
Q I havenrt ask you that,  Pesitively, wader your
eath, you denst know whe shot you, under your oath?

A Yo, sir,

RE-DIRROT RXANINATION BY MR, NOTTi
@ You remerhar that you were in 23 Bewery, that night?
A I wma, :
Q@ And you had a Tight in there, didn't you, with this

Sadie Ennis? A Well, you could eall it a fight, Shecane over

s vt -



money that you promised me?" Alltntmw

- away from the table, I didn't hit her, '*fﬁ
Q Andthonlmbmtﬂ"ﬂmm.

was a general row? A Noj Mmt.‘

Q mdyuuo:uuorhm.‘“ﬁ{'

A Noj T didn,t see ne sailor. Thers was |

Q Now, do you remenber when you get in
A Well, part of it, ves.

q no vou reme ther uyu‘ to one ‘ ih.
and you remerber the officers there “m

shot you, don't you? LS
MR, GOLDSMITH: Now, I object to mi.z
to the conversation that he had in the W N
MR, NOTT: This is oross WM ‘
GOLDSMITH: I ebjeot to anything that e

in the absenee of the defendant,
THE COURT: I think the District Attornay

S’

¢laim that this is an unwilling witness,
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ness, One moment. I ohieot, if your w

here by the prosscutiop.

THR COURT$ xwul let thom;

MR GOTDEMITHI wmoeptiens

BY JR NOTTy

mmms m.mﬂ

.t

THR COURT: Quntun nmc.

MR oommmt wxoept lon,
A 1 des

BY MR ,nor'r; ‘,
Q@ Do you rememher stating te ome of these
it was Billy Smith that shet you? A | No, sirs
MR GOLDSMITH: ohjected to-

well what 1 said,.
BY MR NOTT:

Q Yow, de you remembar having & conversatien in m
pital with the stepfather of this man, Srenmnan? A 1 Cu



Ny

THR COURT: Allowed.
MR GOTDSMITH: mxoceptien
A Brenmnan d1dn't ask mej ne. '
S . G
Q I mean his stepfather? A Yes, sire
Q And do you remember saying te m
and you got it geod, and you would settle it "}"‘

got out? A 1 did,

Q And d14n't you say, *That is what & man ge
up against cops"™? A Yes} 1 mid thats And 1
that is what you get for net minding your own
ing up sgainet cops, and not minding your ewn bu Lness®.

Q "And that is what veu get for not minding m

ness"? A Yes,
w NOTT1 wow, it mems te ne, if your NHoner !
in view of the attitude of this witness, it seems ﬂﬂ
materinl te show his connectien with that eother c-m

TR COURT: Noe, i ' |
MR no'r'ri I1f your Honor please, 1 hm m .
of doctors that 1 wish te call, and they had an iom

at twe o'clock towday, and 1 teold them that they m”e ;
for that and come in the morning; and it is 50 near now

&0 T sl




e

ROraiig.
01 GOTDEATHI Do you think that the
this man aid the shooting?
MR NOTTI Ney 1 didn's say anything
NR aomsnmi 1 ebjest te the adje

Honor please, unless your Honor is m ﬂ
ly at four o'gloeck, 5 .
THE COURTY 1 shall adjourn anyway ltﬂ"_‘_
Gentlensn of the Jury, it is se near four

1 think it is better to adjourn now, munm
witnesses hou; o
De not talk about the case, or form or m
epinien in reference to it. You may ge -m; T

merning at half-past ten o'cleoek,

(The trial was then adjourned until Friday

Pebruary 17, 1905, at 10130 .,)



ARCHEIBALD TABES, owitness salled h

the Peeple, being duly sworny testified as m
DIRRECY® EXAMINATION BY MR NOT™:

Q@ What x‘- your preofession, plense? A m

4 And how long have you been & physicisn, Dester?
A About twe yom.

Q@ And were you oonnected with amy umawm- ia m
eity during the menth of December, 1904% A Gouvernewr —
in this city.

Q@ And what pesition did you held there? A Senior *

Q@ And were you Senier Surgoen, uﬂl.m‘w
29, 1904 A Yes, sir. |

€@ Did yow, in the course of yeur duties, treat one Willism
0'Brien on that day or morning? A Yes, sire



S g, g . e L T e i m———gna T " .

sarriage in the Becovery Boom, just befors he was !
treatuent at that tine? A Vo | g

side of the nmedian line, and in the neighberhood ‘w

R And did you treat the wound? A :umﬂ
treated in the Operating Rooms
Q Will yom put your nnaarntlnphumtb'“
was, on & corresponding place, 1 mesn? A Yes, sir (4 L6
ing).
BY THE COURT$

Q@ In the chest? A 1In the chest walls
BY MR WOTT
Q On the left side? A Yesn, sir.
W Q@ And how many inches belew the heart? A It was Just &

s

little below the apex of the heart, ‘ g
Q 1s that portiem of the body in which the wound Was Ie%
ceived & vital part of the body? A It depends wpen the dim

of the bullet.

¢ b b 2 s A ol e
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low the heard? A Yes, sire

Q uh-m-umnﬁ-WI

™ remenber the exaet mumber of days, but he was there

three weeks.

Qummw AMM

nmn: Will you eall 0'Brieng

- e

Q Just look st that man {indieating)s Is that ¢

that you treated? A Yes, sirs ' 4

MR NOTTH xmmunmum.f

that that is the witmess 0'BFien, whe testified yeste

3

CROSS EXAMINATION: Nona.
mmi The Poople reshs
MR omumu The defense rests

THE COURT: oomn-u.um—tuuumm

MR GOLDSMITHj vou.xmuv-u--udﬂ

V) elose of the Peeple's oanse. 1 den't think that there 415
sufficient to ge te the Jjurys

THR GOURT: 1 shall submit the eass te the fwrye

MR GOLDSMITHS m-xuu-mm"

your Hener take away the secend offense in this
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